



Det här verket är upphovrättskyddat enligt *Lagen (1960:729) om upphovsrätt till litterära och konstnärliga verk*. Det har digitaliserats med stöd av Kap. 1, 16 § första stycket p 1, för forskningsändamål, och får inte spridas vidare till allmänheten utan upphovsrättsinehavarens medgivande.

Alla tryckta texter är OCR-tolkade till maskinläsbar text. Det betyder att du kan söka och kopiera texten från dokumentet. Vissa äldre dokument med dåligt tryck kan vara svåra att OCR-tolka korrekt vilket medför att den OCR-tolkade texten kan innehålla fel och därför bör man visuellt jämföra med verkets bilder för att avgöra vad som är riktigt.

This work is protected by Swedish Copyright Law (*Lagen (1960:729) om upphovsrätt till litterära och konstnärliga verk)*. It has been digitized with support of Kap. 1, 16 § första stycket p 1, for scientific purpose, and may no be dissiminated to the public without consent of the copyright holder.

All printed texts have been OCR-processed and converted to machine readable text. This means that you can search and copy text from the document. Some early printed books are hard to OCR-process correctly and the text may contain errors, so one should always visually compare it with the images to determine what is correct.



GÖTEBORGS UNIVERSITET



The periprosthetic femur fracture

A study from the Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register



Hans Lindahl



Departement of Orthopaedics, Institute of Clinical Sciences The Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University Göteborg, Sweden 2006



The periprosthetic femur fracture

A study from the Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register

Akademisk avhandling

som för avläggande av medicine doktorsexamen vid Sahlgrenska akademin vid Göteborgs Universitet kommer att offentligen försvaras i Aulan, Sahlgrenska Universitetssjukhuset/Sahlgrenska, onsdagen den 24 maj 2006, kl 13.00

av

Hans Lindahl Leg. läkare

Fakultetsopponent: Professor Daniel Berry, M. D. Mayo Clinic, Rochester, USA

Avhandlingen baseras på följande delarbeten:

- I. Lindahl H, Malchau H, Herberts P, Garellick G Periprosthetic femoral fractures. Classification and demographics of 1,409 late periprosthetic femoral fractures from the Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register. J. Arthroplasty 2005; Vol 20 (7) pp. 857-865
- II. Lindahl H, Regnér H, Herberts P, Garellick G, Malchau H Three hundred and twenty one periprosthetic femoral fractures. J Bone Joint Surg (Am) 2006. In print
- III. Lindahl H, Eisler T, Odén A, Garellick G, Malchau H Risk factors associated with the late periprosthetic femur fracture. A study of 113,523 primary THA and 12,516 revisions. Submitted for publication
- IV. Lindahl H, Malchau H, Odén A, Garellick G Risk factors for failure after treatment of a periprosthetic fracture of the femur. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 2005; 88-B, 26-30
- V. Lindahl H, Odén A, Malchau H, Garellick G The excess mortality due to periprosthetic femur fracture. A study from The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register. Submitted for publication



The Sahlgrenska Academy

The periprosthetic femur fracture A study from the Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register

Hans Lindahl

Department of Orthopaedics, Institute of Clinical Sciences The Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University Göteborg, Sweden

Abstract

Post-operative periprosthetic femur fracture is a severe complication after total hip arthroplasty (THA). The incidence of periprosthetic femur fractures seems to be increasing because of several factors, including a growing population with THAs and an increasing life expectancy. Furthermore, after four decades of THA surgery, the number of patients with revised THAs has also risen. Periprosthetic femur fracture is more common after revision surgery.

The overall aim was to study the postoperative/late periprosthetic femur fracture in a nationwide prospective study and to estimate the national incidence. Other aims of this study were: 1. To identify patient related risk factors associated with sustaining a late periprosthetic femur fracture. 2. To identify implant related risk factors associated with sustaining a periprosthetic femur fracture. 3. To evaluate patient related outcome after treatment of a periprosthetic fracture by the use of generic and disease-specific instruments. 4. To describe the treatment and analyze failure rate using the need of further surgery as failure endpoint definition. 5. To identify implant and patient related risk factors associated with failure of treatment for a periprosthetic fracture.

The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register is a unique instrument concerning studies of uncommon complications after THA surgery. The current study is, to our knowledge, the largest reported material (1,049) of postoperative/late periprosthetic femur fractures. The annual incidence of periprosthetic femur fracture varied between 0.045% and 0.13%, and increased towards the end of the study period.

Between 1979 and 2000, 1,049 periprosthetic femur fractures were reported to The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register. We analyzed the correlation to diagnosis, gender, implant type, stem fixation, and time interval from index operation to fracture. Patients operated from 1999 to 2000 (321) were followed prospectively. A clinical follow-up was done (mean 2.5 years) at each local hospital and a Registry follow-up (mean 5 years) with re-operation as an endpoint was performed. By use of the Poisson regression model we identified risk factors associated with periprosthetic fracture and risk factors associated to failure.

A majority of the patients had a loose stem at the time of fracture. These findings stress the importance of longitudinal clinical and radiographic follow-up of patients operated on with a THA. Female gender and osteoarthritis were associated with a decreased risk while age, rheumatoid arthritis and hip fracture had an increased risk for sustaining a periprosthetic fracture. In the revised group the strongest predictor was the number of revisions performed before the fracture. The anatomically shaped Lubinus SP II prosthesis had a significantly decreased risk, and patients with the Charnley or the Exeter prostheses had significantly increased risk for periprosthetic fracture.

Patients operated for a periprosthetic femur fracture had on average a poor clinical outcome at 2.5 years follow-up both concerning the health related quality of life and the hip specific assessment. High frequencies of major complications and re-operations were found. Approximately every fifth patient was in need of further surgery during the study period and 50% of them were re-operated on within 12 months post-operatively. The 5-year survivorship with re-operation as failure endpoint was 74.8 \pm 5%.

The general poor results after surgical treatment of periprosthetic femur fractures indicate the need of further studies in this field.

Key words: periprosthetic femur fracture, loose stem, risk factors, patient outcome, THA.

ISBN 13: 978-91-628-6797-3 ISBN 10: 91-628-6797-0

Correspondence to: hans.lindahl@vgregion.se

The Periprosthetic Femur Fracture

A study from The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register

Hans Lindahl





Department of Orthopaedics Institute of Clinical Sciences The Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University Göteborg, Sweden 2006

Cover by Kent Karlsson & Mats Ringqvist Tryck: Intellecta DocuSys AB, V Frölunda, 2006 ISBN 13: 978-91-628-6797-3 ISBN 10: w91-628-6797-0

Contents

List of papers	4
Patients and follow-up	5
Summary in Swedish	7
Abbreviations	
Introduction	11
The periprosthetic femur fracture	
Aims of the study	20
Summery of papers	21
Material and methods	25
General discussion	29
Conclusion	41
Recommendations	42
Acknowledgements	44
References	46

Paper 1-5, Appendix

List of papers

This thesis is based on five publications, which are referred to in the text by Arabic numerals 1-5.

 Periprosthetic femoral fractures. Classification and demograpics of 1,049 late periprosthetic femoral fractures from the Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register.

Lindahl H, Malchau H, Herberts P, Garellick G J Arthroplasty 2005; Vol 20/7 857-865

2. Three hundred and twenty one periprosthetic femoral fractures.

Lindahl H, Regnér H, Herberts P, Garellick G, Malchau H J Bone Joint Surg (Am) 2006 In print

 Risk factors associated with the late periprosthetic femur fracture. A study of 113,523 primary THA and 12,516 revisions.

Lindahl H, Garellick G, Eisler T, Odén A, Malchau H Submitted for publication

4. Risk factors for failure after treatment of a periprosthetic fracture of the femur.

Lindahl H, Malchau H, Odén A, Garellick G J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 2005; 88-B, 26-30

5. The excess mortality due to periprosthetic femur fracture. A study from The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register.

Lindahl H, Odén A, Malchau H, Garellick G Submitted for publication





Pappa, varför kan du inte sluta skriva och leka med mig istället?

Maja 7 år

Svensk sammanfattning

Introduktion

En protesnära femurfraktur utgör en teknisk utmaning för kirurgen, som i samma operation ofta tvingas lösa problemet med en lös protesstam, omfattande benförluster och fraktur. Fyra år efter en primär protesoperation är protesnära femurfraktur den näst vanligaste orsaken till revision vid långtidsuppföljning i Sverige. Den troliga orsaken är att populationen med höftprotesopererade patienter ökar kontinuerligt och att både yngre och äldre opereras i större omfattning än förr. Vidare har, efter nästan 50 år av höftproteskirurgi, antalet patienter med en reviderad eller rereviderad höft ökat. Revisionsoperation i sig är en riskfaktor.

Hittills publicerade studier av sena protesnära frakturer rapporterar relativt små material och belyser oftast en behandlingsmetod utan jämförelser. Protesnära fraktur rapporteras till det svenska Nationalregistret för Höftledsplastiker, vilket ger en unik möjlighet att prospektivt samla ett större material för adekvat statistisk analys.

Material och metod

Mellan 1979 och 2000 rapporterades 1 049 sena protesnära femurfrakturer till Registret. Med sen fraktur menas en postoperativ fraktur. I denna grupp (Studie 1) studerades patientdemografi, implantatrelaterade faktorer och överlevnadsanalys enligt Kaplan-Meier med ändpunkten reoperation.

Patienter opererade för en protesnära fraktur mellan 1999 och 2000 följdes prospektivt (Studie 2), som en rikstäckande multicenterstudie med klinisk (Harris Hip Score, EQ-5D, VAS avseende smärta och tillfredställelse) och röntgenologisk uppföljning 1–4.5 år postoperativt. Materialet analyserades främst med avseende på patient- och implantatrelaterade faktorer samt utfall av frakturbehandlingen. Via Registrets databaser var det möjligt att göra jämförelser mellan frakturgruppen och övriga patienter opererade under samma tidsperiod. Patienterna delades i två grupper: dels de som ådrog sig en fraktur kring en primärplastik, dels de som reviderats en eller flera gånger före frakturtillfället.

Klassifikation av frakturerna gjordes enligt Vancouvermodellen som delar in dem på tre nivåer samt tar hänsyn till stamstabilitet och benkvalitet. I Studie 1 gjordes Vancouverklassifikationen utifrån ortopedens och röntgenavdelningens ursprungliga bedömning och i Studie 2 utifrån röntgenbilder.

Riskanalyserna i Studie 3, 4 och 5 utfördes med hjälp av Poissons regressionsanalys och överlevnadskurvor med reoperation som ändpunkt beräknades enligt Kaplan-Meier.

Den röntgenologiska utvärderingen gjordes av en oberoende radiolog. En interobservationsanalys gjordes mellan opererande kirurgs bedömning och radiologens. Ett intraobservationstest innefattande 50 röntgenbilder och 2 månader mellan bedömningarna gjordes.

Resultat Studie 1

Av de 1 049 patienterna hade 688 en primärplastik och 361 hade genomgått en eller flera revisioner vid frakturtillfället. Medelåldern var 74 år i bägge grupperna med en nästan identisk könsfördelning. Det genomsnittliga tidsintervallet från primärplastik till fraktur var 7,4 år. Den ackumulerade incidensen var 0,4% för primärgruppen samt 2,1% för den reviderade gruppen. Patienter med primärdiagnoserna RA och höftfraktur var signifikant vanligare i frakturgruppen jämfört med totala antalet patienter som opererats med höftplastik under samma period (p<0,001, Fischers exakta test). Den största andelen frakturer (82%) klassificerades som Vancouver B1 eller B2. En stor majoritet av femurkomponenterna var lösa vid tillfället för fraktur, bland de primära 70% och bland de reviderade 44%. Orsaken till frakturen var i de flesta fall ett mindre trauma.

En implantatrelaterad faktor kunde också konstateras, där Charnley- och Exeterproteserna var signifikant överrepresenterade i frakturgruppen (p<0,001, Fischers exakta test). Lubinusprotesen var klart underrepresenterad (p<0,001, Fischers exakta test). Det var en hög postoperativ komplikationsfrekvens (18%) och 23% av patienterna var reopererade på grund av någon komplikation innan 31 december 2002. Överlevnadsanalys enligt Kaplan-Meier visade på en 10-årsöverlevnad på 73,2 ±4,4% i primärgruppen samt 64,9 ±6,6% i revisionsgruppen.

Resultat Studie 2

I denna studie, som innefattade mer samtida behandlingsmetoder, ingick 321 patienter varav 230 hade en primärprotes vid frakturtillfället. Som i Studie 1 fann man en hög andel lösa proteser vid frakturtillfället, bland de primära 66% samt bland de reviderade 49%. Charnley- och Exeterprotesen var överrepresenterade samt Lubinusprotesen underrepresenterad (p<0,001, Fischers exakta test). Överlevnad enligt Kaplan-Meier var efter 54 månader 73,5 \pm 7,0% för primärgruppen samt 77,3 \pm 8,8% för revisionsgruppen. Den 31 december 2002 var 22% reopererade.

Vid en granskning av de preoperativa röntgenbilderna fann vi en dålig överensstämmelse mellan radiologens bedömning och den bedömning som gjorts av den behandlande kirurgen. Detta gällde framför allt frakturer kategoriserade som Vancouver B1 och B2. Vid analys fann man en hög andel (23%) reoperationer bland de fall som klassificerats som B1. I en samtida behandlingsalgoritm är frakturer av typ B1 och C (med stabilt fixerad stam) de enda fall där man kan rekommendera osteosyntes utan stamrevision. Resultatet i studien indikerar att den opererande kirurgen sannolikt gjort en felaktig preoperativ bedömning beträffande femurkomponentens fixation.

Resultat Studie 3

I denna studie var målsättningen att genom multivariat regressionsanalys försöka identifiera eventuella riskfaktorer associerade till protesnära femurfraktur. Av frakturpatienterna identifierades 296 patienter med en primär höftledsplastik opererade 1992–2003 samt 234 patienter med en eller flera revisioner opererade 1979–2000. Dessa jämfördes med 113 523 primära höftledsplastiker respektive 12 516 reviderade patienter. I primärgruppen var medeluppföljningstiden 4,9 år med en medeltid från primäroperation till fraktur på 4,2 år. Motsvarande siffror i revisionsgruppen var 8,3 år samt 3,0 år. I analysen inkluderades såväl patient-, implantat- samt tidsfaktorer.

Vi fann att primärdiagnosen RA samt tidigare höftfraktur var associerad till ökad risk. Detta gällde även val av protesstam. Charnley- och Exeterstammar gav en ökad risk medan en Lubinusstam minskade risken. Ålder och tid efter primäroperationen var också förenat med högre risk. Kvinnor hade en lägre risk.

I gruppen reviderade var det framför allt antalet revisioner som gav en ökad risk för en protesnära femurfraktur. Analysen visade en minskad risk om revisionen var utförd på universitets- eller regionsjukhus.

Resultat Studie 4

I denna studie ville vi undersöka om det fanns eventuella faktorer i patientdemografi, val av implantat eller operationsmetod som skulle kunna vara en bidragande orsak till den höga reoperationsfrekvensen bland patienter med en protesnära fraktur. Av de 1 049 rapporterade protesnära frakturerna blev 245 reopererade. Data rörande dessa patienter analyserades med hjälp av Poissons regressionsanalys.

Patienter som preoperativt bedömts ha en fastsittande stam och opererats med plattfixation hade en signifikant ökad risk för reoperation. Ålder och tid sedan frakturoperationen var också faktorer som påverkade riskförloppet (äldre och kort tid efter operation) var associerat till ökad risk. Om däremot patienten bedömdes ha en lös stam och opererades med revision var det en minskad risk för misslyckande. Användande av en Lubinus SP revisionsstam gav också minskad risk. Faktorer som kön, primärdiagnos, tidigare revision eller om bentransplantation använts påverkade inte risken i någon riktning.

Resultat Studie 5

Det primära målet med denna studie var att studera eventuell överdödlighet i samband med protesnära fraktur hos patienter med primärdiagnos artros. Sekundärt ville vi också jämföra risken för död mellan patienter med en protesnära fraktur, patienter med en höftprotes samt hela befolkningen.

Vi fann en ökad dödlighet i samband med operation för protesnära fraktur. Mortaliteten var högre än vid operation för en primär höftplastik. Dödligheten inom frakturgruppen sjönk snabbt inom ett halvt år och stabiliserades. Dock kom den fortsättningsvis att ligga över gruppen med en primär höftledsplastik. Jämfört med befolkningen i övrigt hade frakturpatientgruppen samma dödlighet som denna. Dock med ett undantag, i de lägre åldersgrupperna (under 70 år) var överdödligheten högre jämfört med befolkningen. Någon ökad frekvens av övriga sjukdomar i de yngre åldersgrupperna kunde inte påvisas.

Sammanfattning

Studien har resulterat i tre huvudsakliga fynd:

- En majoritet av de sena protesnära femurfrakturerna sker kring en lös femurstam.
- Det finns signifikanta protesdesignrelaterade riskfaktorer för protesnära fraktur efter en primärplastik.
- Resultaten efter behandling av denna svåra komplikation har både historiskt och i nutid varit dåliga med hög frekvens av komplikationer och reoperationer.

Med tanke på de dåliga resultaten kan man diskutera om dessa svåra fall skall centreras till specialenheter. Mot detta talar att dessa akutpatienter inte alltid är transportabla. Fallen bör opereras av team med god kompetens och erfarenhet både vad gäller fraktur- och proteskirurgi.Raka femurkomponenter hade en klart ökad risk för sen protesnära femurfraktur och detta faktum kan få betydelse för val av cementerade standardproteser i framtiden. Slutligen kan följande rekommendationer ges:

- Bestäm alltid om stammen är lös och vid tveksamhet explorera leden.
- Revidera alltid en lös stam.
- · Följ protesopererade patienter med någon form av regelbunden röntgenologisk
- uppföljning.
- · Intervenera i tid, framför allt om stammen är lös.

Abbreviations

АР	Anterioposterior
HHS	Harris hip score
HZ	Hazard ratio
ORIF	Open reduction and internal fixation
OA	Osteoarthritis
PFF	Periprosthetif femur fracture
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis
THA	Total Hip Arthroplasty
THR	Total Hip Replacement (synonymous with THA)

operation	The primary THA operation
Revision	Exchange of the stem in a patient with a THA
Primary	The primary THA was in place at fracture time
Revised	The patient was revised one or several times prior to the periprosthetic fracture.

Introduction

The postoperative periprosthetic femur fracture has been considered to be an uncommon complication of total hip arthroplasty (THA). However, there is a worldwide increasing number of primary and revision THAs performed each year. The progress in general medical practice and the development of implants now allows operation on both younger and older patients and the increasing life span of the patient consequently has lead to a greater population of patients at risk.

The incidence of postoperative periprosthetic femur fracture has been discussed in the literature and there have been reports ranging from 0.1% up to 20%. After revision surgery the incidence is reported to be higher. Risk factors associated with a late periprosthetic femur fracture have been discussed in the literature, but there are few studies concerning this. Factors concerning the implant are loosening with or without osteolysis. Proposed patient related factors are female gender, metabolic bone disease, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), osteoporosis and preoperative femoral deformity.

The treatment of periprosthetic femur fracture is technically demanding and a challenge. The surgeon often has to deal not just with a fracture of the femur. If the implant is loose and there is osteolysis combined with a markedly diminished bone stock, the treatment might be demanding for the surgeon. He then has to deal with a fracture and revision in the same procedure. Orthopedic fracture treatment is often guided by different fracture classifying systems. These are mostly based on the fracture pattern. Several attempts classifying periprosthetic femur fractures have been done. In order to be useful the system has to be reliable and valid. Some classification systems depend purely on the location of the fracture while others include the pattern of the fracture. During recent years the importance of including the implant stability and the quality of the bone stock has been well documented. It is also possible to compare the results from different centers after interventions for the same pathology, when using an adequate classification system. Today the Vancouver classification, which is tested for its validity and reliability, is the internationally widely most used.

The treatment of periprosthetic femur fracture, as in most orthopedic traumatology, could be divided into conservative or surgical treatment. Historically, conservative treatment has played a large role in the treatment of periprosthetic femur fractures. Difficulty with angular malalignment, jeopardizing revision surgery in cases of loosening, long hospitalization and a considerable complication rate has led to a shift in favour of surgical management. New fracture treatment methods have also helped to put surgery as a first method of choice. In combination with the development in revision surgery, advances in instrumentation, the establishment of bone banks has lead to surgical approach as the method of choice. The goal of treatment is early union with an anatomical alignment and length and the re-establishment of the bone stock, with an early mobilization and a return to pre-fracture function.

However, the most important aims must be the effort to prevent a fracture. To be able to do this, it is important to analyze patient data in order to identify risk factors associated to the fracture. In cases of fracture it is, on the other hand, of importance to analyze surgery and outcome in order to optimize the treatment methods. Since the periprosthetic femur fracture for the average clinic is relatively uncommon, The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register gives a unique opportunity to analyze the problem. One of the advantages of a national implant register is the ability to study and to statistically analyze an uncommon complication.

The periprosthetic femur fracture

Epidemiology

Periprosthetic fracture of the femur after total hip arthroplasty (THA) surgery was first described by Horwitz and Lenobel (1954). They published a case-report of a female who sustained an intertrochanteric fracture around the stem of a cemented hemiarthroplasty. The fracture was reconstructed using transfixing screws and wire loops, and the prosthesis was reinserted into the reduced femur. Parish and Jones (1964) reported 7 cases in 1964. The authors claimed a need for a classification system of periprosthetic fractures and proposed a system related to the location of the fracture; intertrochanteric, subtrochanteric and mid-shaft fractures. Two years later Sir John Charnley (1966) described a periprosthetic femur fracture in a female. She was treated with a cemented Thompson prosthesis after a failed cervical hip fracture. Seven months later she fell and sustained an oblique fracture healed after 3 months. Whittaker et al (1974) presented a report of 20 cases in 19 patients which included 17 hemiarthroplasties and 3 cemented THAs. Depending on fracture location they were treated with early mobilization, traction, long stem revision or plates.

The periprosthetic femur fracture can be classified as intraoperative and postoperative fractures. The intraoperative fractures mostly occur during the insertion of the femoral stem.

Depending on the fixation method used, differences in incidence have been reported. An incidence of 0.1% to 1% has been reported (Kavanagh 1992) with cemented stems. An increase of intraoperative fractures is reported with the introduction of uncemented stems. Berry (1999) reported an incidence of 0.3% in cemented and 5.4% in uncemented THAs. Intraoperative fractures in uncemented THAs often are a consequence of the effort to obtain a sufficient press-fit to gain initial stem stability.

After revision surgery an even higher incidence has been reported (Tsiridis et al 2003) Berry reported an intraoperative fracture rate of 3.6% in cemented and 20.9% in uncemented revision THAs. In revision surgery, peroperative accidental cortical perforation, windows, screw holes or bony defects are the risk factors reported.

The incidence of late postoperative periprosthetic femur fracture seems to be increasing worldwide (Berry 1999; 2003). Total hip arthroplasty surgery is very successful, which has led to broadening of the indications for THA, with more younger and more elderly patients now undergoing the procedure. The average life expectancy is increasing; consequently, there are more elderly patients, who have had a hip implant for many years. The risk of loosening due to poor bone quality and/or periprosthetic bone loss is obvious. The use of THA in younger and more active patients means that the pool of patients at risk of developing local osteolysis and at risk for high-energy trauma is growing. Furthermore, after four decades of THA surgery, the number of THA patients with revised and re-revised hips has increased substantially.

The true incidence of the fracture is difficult to estimate, since the patient populations reported in the literature are heterogeneous. The incidence is depending on many factors: the patient demographics, the number of revised patients in the total fracture group, the use of cemented or uncemented prostheses, and finally, follow-up routines in order to detect loosening/osteolysis and revise before fracture.

Different authors have tried to estimate the incidence. Löwenhielm et al (1989) found the accumulated risk of postoperative fractures after THA surgery to be 25.3/1,000 patients over a 15-year period, while Beals and Tower (1996) estimated the incidence of such frac-

tures over the life span of a prosthesis to be <1%. The Mayo Clinic Joint Registry reported 1.1% postoperative periprosthetic femur fracture after 23,980 primary THAs (Berry 1999) (performed 1969 to 1999). They reported a higher incidence after revision surgery with 4% fractures after 6,349 revision THAs.

Risk factors for postoperative late periprosthetic femur fracture

There are few articles concerning risk factors associated with periprosthetic femur fracture. Mont and Maar (1994) did a review of the literature and ended up with 487 patients from 26 papers. They concluded that in each study there was a small number of ingoing patients. The authors discussed classification, treatment and results, but were not able to identify any risk factors associated with periprosthetic fracture.

Jensen at al (1988) presented 131 patients with 139 periprosthetic femur fractures from five departments. A multivariate analysis revealed an association between fracture location and radiographic signs of loosening. Fracture extending distally from the tip of the stem, was usually observed in stable stems, whereas proximal fractures around the stem predominantly occurred with fixed non-cemented or loose cemented stems. Any further analysis of patient demographics as risk factors was not performed.

Beals and Tower (1996) performed a retrospective multicenter study including 93 patients with periprosthetic fracture. They found that the location of the fracture was related to the fixation and type of stem. Fractures located around the mid part of the stem did not occur in cemented stems. These fractures were found in patients with uncemented stems. Fractures at the tip of the stem were found in patients with a cemented loose stem. Fractures distal to the stem tip were most common in patients with a fixed cemented stem.

Among the cemented prostheses 27% were considered loose. Several authors have reported loosening as a factor predisposing the patient for periprosthetic fracture (Bethea et al 1982; Ritschl and Kotz 1986; Jensen et al 1988; Incavo et al 1998; Tower and Beals 1999).

One factor described as a risk factor (Tsiridis et al 2003; Hsieh et al 2005) is periprosthetic bone loss with or without osteolysis. Localized periprosthetic bone loss in association with loose cemented THA was early described by Harris et al (1976) and Jones and Hungerford (1987). The latter authors introduced the concept of "cement-disease" which led to the development of cementless implants. The problem with osteolysis was not solved with cementless implants, at least not with the first generation of uncemented stems. The currently dominating theory is that osteolysis partially is a phenomenon (Schmalzried et al 1992; Maloney and Smith 1996) related to particle debris (more to the size, form and number than type of particles), and therefore in recent years referred to as "particle disease". Biological and genetic components are probably also involved in the process of osteolysis. Focal femoral osteolysis has been described in patients with a stable cemented femoral component (Maloney et al 1990) as well as in patients with well-fixed uncemented stems (Maloney et al 1990).

Brown and Ring (1985) reported osteolytic changes in the proximal part of femur in patients with uncemented porous-coated cobolt chrome stems. They found a high frequency of fractures of the greater trochanter. The same type of fracture was described in a paper by Hsieh et al (2005). In a retrospective study, they found 23 fractures of the greater trochanter among 887 patients with an uncemented stem. They claimed that the osteolytic lesions were correlated with excessive polyethylene wear.

Wu et al (1999) analyzed 16 cases of periprosthetic femur fracture in a total of 454 cementless THAs. Significant patient characteristics associated with fracture were high age, a low flare index and that the quality of the bone, according to Singh's index, were low. They found no specific index diagnosis that implied significantly increased risk. Löwenhielm et al

(1989) could not find any association with the index diagnosis.

Sarvilinna et al (2003; 2004; 2005) have published reports from the Finnish Arthroplasty Register, analyzing risk factors for a periprosthetic femur fracture. Forty periprosthetic fractures treated with revision from 1990 to 1999 were analyzed. Gender, implant type or age was not identified as significant risk factors. In a case control study with 31 hips, patients operated with a THA after a hip fracture had a higher risk for periprosthetic fracture. In another case control study, 16 patients with periprosthetic femur fractures were compared to 48 patients with primary THAs after a hip fracture. Low age at the time of hip fracture and a polished, tapered implant design were associated with higher risk.

Classification systems

Radiographic classification systems for general fracture treatment are common. An adequate classification system should guide the surgeon into a treatment algorithm. Several classification systems have been proposed for the periprosthetic femur fracture.

Parrish and Jones (1964) introduced a classification related to the location of the fracture.

Parrish 1964	Fractures in the trochanteric area	Fractures of the midshaft	Fractures at the distal end of the shaft			
Whittaker 1974	Type 1 Intertrochanteric	Type 2 Around stem	Type 3 Below stem	1	1399423	
Johansson 1981	Type 1 Proximal to stem tip	Type 2 Around stem tip	Type 3 Below stem tip			
Betha 1982	Type A Below the stem tip	Type B Around stem	Type C Comminute		1.2.1.1.1	
Jensen 1988	Type 1 Proximal part	Type 2 Around stem tip	Type 3 From stem tip			
Mont 1994	Type 1 Intertrochanteric	Type 2 Around stem	Type 3 Around tip	Type 4 Below tip	Type 5 Comminute	Type 6 Supra- condylar
Towers 1995	Type 1 Intertrochanteric	Type 2 Around stem	Type 3a, 3b and 3c Around tip	Type 4 Supracondylar	1.2.2.2	
Brady 1999	Type A Trochanteric fracture (Ag = greater Am = minor)	Type B1 Fracture around stable stem	Type B2 Fracture around a loose stem	Type B3 Fracture around a loose stem and osteolysis	Type C Distal to the stem	

Table 1. Classification of the post-operative periprosthetic femur fracture

Whittaker et al (1974) claimed that a classification system also should be related to the stability of the stem as well as the fracture location. As in all other fields of orthopedics, several centers have introduced their own classification system (Table 1).



Figure 1. Fracture classification according

Some classification systems depend only on the location of the fracture (Parrish and Jones 1964; Johansson et al. 1981) (Figure 1). Other systems include the location and the pattern of the fracture (Bethea et al 1982; Mont and Maar 1994). As Whittaker proposed, as early as 1974, recent classification systems include the stability of the stem

A classification system should be valid and reliable. The Vancouver classification is tested for validity and reliability (Brady et al. 1999; Brady et al. 2000) and probably is the most widely used system. Factors included in this classification system are the location of the fracture, the stability of the stem and the amount of bone loss. The fracture is primarily divided into A, B or C depending on its location. Type A fracture (Figure 2) is trochanteric, either in the greater trochanter (AG) or in the lesser trochanter (AL). Type B fractures occur around the stem. They are subclassified based on the stability of the implant and the quality of the bone stock. In type B1 fractures (Figure 3), the stem is stable, whereas in B2 fractures (Figure 4), the stem is loose. The B3 fractures (Figure 5) are those in which the stem is unstable with extensive bone loss. Type C fractures (Figure 6) occur distally to the stem tip. The Vancouver classification system has been assessed for reliability by looking at the intra and interobserver agreement and validity by comparing the radiographic classification and the intraoperative findings (Brady et al 2000).







Figure 2. Vancouver A

Figure 3. Vancouver B1

Figure 4. Vancouver B2







Figure 6. Vancouver C

These pictures were first published in an article by Brady et al. Orthop Clin North Am 30 249-57, 1999



Treatment

Historically non-surgical treatment and traction has played a role in the management of periprosthetic femur fractures. The non-operative treatment was recommended by several authors (McElfresh and Coventry 1974) in the 1970s. Johnsson et al (1981) concluded, from a retrospective review of 35 patients, that fractures proximal to the tip of the stem should be treated conservatively if the stem was stable since the probability of union was good and surgical procedure could be avoided. Roffman (1989) as late as 1989, reported fracture healing with traction in periprosthetic fractures. However, out of 7 patients only 4 were treated with traction.

Adolphson et al (1987) reported 21 non-surgically treated patients of which 29% (6/21) were in need of surgical intervention because of malunion or malalignment. Somers et al (1998) reported 34 patients treated conservatively and 26% (9/34) had to be operated due to failure. A high complication rate (dislocation, decubitus and stiff knee) was observed.

Mont and Maar (1994) published a literature review in 1994. The authors categorized fractures into five types based on location and treatment method in six categories. Satisfactory results (united fracture and no pain) were found in 33% (1/3) to 77% (59/77), depending on the fracture location. Despite 77% satisfactory results in fractures distal to the implant, treated with traction, they do not recommend traction treatment. Tower and Beals (1999) recommended non-surgical treatment only in patients with a proximal fracture and with a well-fixed stem.

The contemporary treatment is, based on a literature review, difficult to evaluate. Most series have relatively few patients treated with one specific method and without a control group. However, in most review papers (Wilson et al 2001; Schmidt and Kyle 2002; Tsiridis et al 2003; Learmonth 2004; Parvizi et al 2004), there is an agreement on how to treat a periprosthetic fracture surgically. In a contemporary treatment algorithm (Schmidt and Kyle 2002) the basic treatment methods are revision, revision with open reduction and internal fixation (ORIF) and ORIF alone. In the different treatment alternatives, use of bone grafting is optional, but in B3 fractures considered essential. The use and benefits of cortical onlay allograft (strut graft) is documented in several papers (Chandler et al 1993; Chandler and Tigges 1998; Wong and Gross 1999; Barden et al 2003; Barden et al 2003).

ORIF alone

ORIF alone is a recommended treatment method for a fracture with a stable stem (Vancouver A, B1 and C fractures). Various methods have been discussed. The use of cerclage alone does not give a sufficiently rigid fixation, except in the trochanteric area. Fredin et al (1987) concluded that cerclage may be adequate if the stem is firmly anchored and the fracture is not dislocated, but the method does not provide sufficient stability to permit immediate mobilization and the authors did not recommend it. Mont and Maar (1994) recommend cerclage for fractures in the trochanteric area. In fractures below the trochanteric region, cerclage was not recommended.

Another possibility, probably the most used today, is plate fixation. There are so-called "ordinary" plates with screws (Courpied et al 1987; Serocki et al 1992), plates fixated with bands or cables/wires (Haddad et al 1997; Tadross et al 2000; Venu et al 2001), special plates that have claws (Uchio et al 1997; Otremski et al 1998; Ahuja and Chatterji 2002) and angle blade plates (Schatzker 1998) to chose between.

Mont and Maar (1994) presented unsatisfactory results (malunion, nonunion and reoperation) in more than 50% of the patients in all types of fractures treated with plate fixation. Jensen et al (1988) reported unsatisfactory results (refracture and nonunion) in 43% (6/14) of the patients treated with plate fixation. Later reports (Courpied et al 1987; Jukkala-Partio et al 1998; Siegmeth et al 1998; Siegmeth et al 1998) have shown better results using plates.

The screw plate is probably the most used. Park et al (2003) reported 13 patients treated with screw plate fixation, of which 38% (5/13) had to be reoperated. The complications were related to the proximal screw, violating the cement mantle or in the case of uncemented implants, failed to gain sufficient purchase. Other plate systems have been developed, partially because of problems with the proximal screws. One technique, initially presented by Ogden and Rendell (1978), used Parham band proximally and is known as the Ogden concept (Ogden and Rendell 1978; Zenni et al 1988; de Ridder et al 2001). The idea is to use a band at the proximal end of the plate, to avoid cement or stem interference and a more rigid fixation with screws at the distal end. However, the use of broad bands has been related to bone loss in the area around the band (Buxton et al 1986; Jones 1986), which could limit the use of broad bands.

Combination plates (Figure 7) have been introduced, which instead of a band uses a cerclage wire or cable proximally and screws distally. The outcome using these plates have been reported in several studies (Venu et al 2001; Haddad et al 1997; Tadross et al 2000; Agarwal et al 2005). Table 2, presents the outcome with the use of different plates.

Author	Year	Plate	No	Healed	Re.op.	Complication
Ridder et al	1999	Partridge	222	189		23
Zenni et al	1987	Ogden	19	16	3	
Courpied et al	1987	Screw plate	29	29	Contraction of the	3
Serocki et al	1992	Screw plate	10	9	1	Design Design
Hopf et al	1996	Screw plate	36	21	15	
Jukkala-Partio et al	1998	Screw plate	35	15	10	27
Park et al	2003	Screw plate	13	5		3
Tsiridis et al	2005	Screw plate	7	4	2	
Haddad et al	1997	Combination	4	3	1	1
Tadross et al	2000	Combination	7	5	2	3
Venu et al	2001	Combination	12	9	3	
Tsiridis et al	2003	Combination	3	1	2	
Agarwal et al	2005	Combination	16	12	3	1
Abhaykumar and Elliot	2000	LISS	7	7		

Table 2.	The	outcome	with	different	plates



Figure 7. A combination plate

Figure 8. The Mennen plate

Another type of plate (Figure 8) is the clamp plate (Mennen plate). Papers reporting good results (healing of fracture) (Radcliffe and Smith 1996;

Uchio et al 1997; Kligman et al 1999) and papers with poor results (high frequence of re-operations) (Petersen 1998; Ahuja and Chatterji 2002) using this plate are presented in Table 3.

Author	Year	No	Healed	Re.op.	Complication
Dave et al	1995	1	1		
Raddiffe and Smith	1996	5	5	101130	1
Uchoi et al	1997	6	6		
Peterson	1997	5	2	3	2 4 4 M
Ottemski et al	1998	14	10	5	1
Klingman	1999	9	9		
Ahuja and Chatterji	2002	16	4	10	
Noorda and Wuisman	2002	35	26	8	

Table 3. Outcome using the Mennen plate

For C fractures the angle stable blade plate and the intramedullary nail have been used. These methods are normally used in supracondylar fractures of the femur (Schatzker 1998), but



Figure 9. "Kissing point"



Figure 10. A LISS plate

also used in periprosthetic fractures distal to the implant. There are no reports with clinical results in the literature of these methods. A potential problem with these devices is the increased stress between the distal end of the stem and the plate or nail ("kissing point") with an increased risk for a new fracture (Figure 9).

The so called less invasive stabilization system (LISS) (Wenda et al 1997; Frigg et al 2001) is possible to use for periprosthetic fractures, especially in patients with osteoporosis (Figure 10). Biomechanical evaluation has proven that LISS is a stable fixation system (Zlowodzki et al 2004; Fulkerson et al 2006). Abhaykumar and Elliott (2000) presented 7 patients operated with this technique, and all fractures healed.

The use of cortical onlay allograft (strut graft) in combination with plates is described in a study by Haddad et al (2002). Four centers reported 40 patients with a fracture around a well-fixed femoral stem. Thirty-nine of the 40 fractures healed. Three had more than 10 degrees of malalignment, and one a deep infection. A combination of plate and strut graft provides a stable fixation with the potential to restore bone stock and increase cortical strength.

Revision

The proposed treatment for fractures with a loose stem (Vancouver B2 and B3) is revision with or without ORIF (Berry 2003; Springer et al 2003). Bethea et al (1982) reported 75% (23/31) stem loosening in association with periprosthetic fracture. Tower and Beals (1999) reported 42% (25/59) with a loose stem which indicated that the B2 and B3 fractures were common.

The preferred method in B2 fractures, with good bone quality and a loose stem, is revision. In the literature, revision with an uncemented long stem is advocated (Jukkala-Partio et al 1998; Macdonald et al 2001; Springer et al 2003). If the fracture is combined with loosening and osteolysis, different methods are proposed. Macdonald et al (2001) reported healing in 100% (14/14) of the fractures with loose stems when long uncemented extensively porous coated stems were used for treatment. O`Shea et al (2005) reviewed 22 patients with loosening and osteolysis that were treated with fully porous-coated implants and reported satisfactory result (HHS>80) in 77% (17/22) of the patients and with complication in 23% (5/22) (subsidence, infection and delayed union). Several other centers, (Incavo et al 1998; Macdonald et al 2001; Springer et al 2003) using long fully coated stems, have reported good (fracture healing) results.

Impaction grafting technique with morselized cancellous bone is used in revision surgery (Gie et al 1993; Slooff et al 1996). This technique has been used in the treatment of periprosthetic femur fractures, but there are no results presented in the literature.

The use of distally fixed long stems is another treatment option preferable in B3 fractures. Kolstad (1994) reported 22 fractures of which 100% (9/9) treated with a distally fixed stem (Wagner), healed. In the rest of the patients, treated with cemented revision, loosening was reported in 53% (7/13) of the stems. Mulay et al (2005) reported 24 patients treated with a distally fixed stem and with complications in 33% (8/24). Berry (2003) reported 8 patients with Vancouver B3 fractures treated with long distally fixed uncemented stems of which all at follow-up (mean 1.5 year) showed fracture healing.

Another concept in order to overcome the difficulties associated with stem loosening and osteolysis in periprosthetic fractures is uncemented stems with distal locking screws. These are marketed by different companies and are possible to get in different designs with different stem surfaces. There are, however, few reports in the literature with treatment outcome. Sexton et al (2004) presented a poster at the AAOS meeting with a 15-year follow-up of the Kent hip prosthesis in 37 cases. They found that the 15-year survival rate in patients less than 70 years was only 68% and recommended the procedure for patients over 70 years. The problem is that distal interlocking screws provide sufficient fixation for fracture healing, but they are not sufficient for stem fixation.

In patients with severe bone loss the use of tumor prostheses is a possibility. This is not a common method but it can be considered. The use of these total femur replacements was reported by Ritschl and Kotz (1986) and Klein et al (2005).

Bone grafting

All the treatment options could be combined with cortical onlay allograft (Figure 11). The method was first described 1989 by Penenberg et al. How to use this technique has been described in several papers (Chandler et al 1993; Brady et al 1999; Wong and Gross 1999). The graft is usually a femur or tibial shaft split into equal parts. These grafts should bypass the fracture 10 cm proximally and distally. The graft (or one plate and one graft) is held to the host bone with cerclage cables or wires. The success of this method is not only the augmentation (Howell et al 2004) but also the biological aspect. The graft is supposed to incorporate and increase the bone stock. In combination with onlay allograft it is possible to use morselized allograft.



Figure 11. Cortical onlay allograft.

Aims of the study

Overall aim

 To study the postoperative/late periprosthetic femur fracture in a nationwide perspective.

Specific aims

- To estimate the national incidence of periprosthetic fractures.
- To identify patient related risk factors associated with sustaining a late periprosthetic femur fracture.
- To identify implant related risk factors associated with sustaining a late periprosthetic femur fracture.
- To evaluate patient outcome after treatment of periprosthetic fracture by use of generic and disease-specific instruments.
- To analyze survival rate after surgical intervention of periprosthetic femur fracture using the need of further surgery as failure endpoint definition.
- To identify implant and patient related risk factors associated with failure of treatment for a periprosthetic fracture.
- To estimate the probability of death caused by the periprosthetic femoral fracture in patients with the index diagnosis osteoarthritis.

Summary of papers

Paper 1. Periprosthetic femoral fracture. Classification and demographics of 1,049 periprosthetic femoral fractures from the Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register.

Introduction: Postoperative periprosthetic femoral fracture is a severe complication after THA surgery. The incidence of periprosthetic femoral fractures seems to be increasing because of several factors, including a growing population with THAs and an average life expectancy which is increasing. Furthermore, after four decades of THA surgery, the number of patients with revised THAs has also risen. Periprosthetic femoral fracture is more common after revision surgery.

Patients and methods: Between 1979 and 2000, 1,049 periprosthetic femoral fractures were reported to The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register. We estimated the incidence after primary or revision surgery and analyzed the correlation to diagnosis, gender, implant type, stem fixation, and time interval from index operation to fracture. The analyzes were based on hospital records. No radiographic results were included in the Registry or in this report, because the study extended over 22 years and the x-rays for many cases were unavailable. Fractures were classified according to the Vancouver classification system on the basis of the radiologist's and surgeon's report.

Results: A total of 688 patients with a fracture after a primary THA and 361 patients with fractures after revision THA were reported. The mean age was 74 years. The annual incidence varied between 0.045% and 0.13%.

Patients with index diagnoses RA and hip fracture were significantly more common (p<0.001) in the fracture group, compared with all primary THA patients. Eighty-two percent of the fractures were classified as Vancouver types B1 and B2. Twenty-three percent were "known loose" and 47% were "unknown loose". In the revised group, the corresponding figures were 21% and 23% respectively. A comparison of all primary THAs performed in Sweden and the fracture group revealed a significant increase of fractures with the Charnley (p<0.001) and with the Exeter stem (p<0.001) and a significant decrease for the Lubinus stem (p<0.001).

The total complication rate was 18%. By December 31, 2002, 23% of the patients had undergone revision surgery for various reasons. Of those, 46% underwent revision surgery during the first 12 postoperative months. The overall 10-year survival rate for the entire fracture group with repeated surgery of any kind as failure endpoint was $69.9 \pm 3.8\%$.

Conclusion: The most important finding in this study was that 70% of the stems in the primary group were loose. Another major finding in our study was the significant association between the type of implant and the risk for periprosthetic fracture. There was a poor overall result and a high reoperation rate.

Paper 2. Three hundred and twenty-one periprosthetic femoral fractures.

Introduction: We have, in a prospective nationwide study, analyzed periprosthetic femoral fractures reported to The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register from 1999 to 2000. The Registry included 242 393 primary procedures, 28 045 reoperations and 22 840 revisions at the end of the study (December 31, 2004). This gives a unique opportunity to analyze this uncommon complication. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the demographics and incidence of periprosthetic femoral fractures and to evaluate the treatment and

outcome of these fractures in order to identify risk factors associated with the fractures and treatment.

Patients and methods: During the period, 321 periprosthetic femoral fractures were reported to the Registry. 230 occurred after a primary THA and 91 after a revision procedure.

A clinical follow-up was done (mean 2.5 years) at each local hospital. A standardized follow-up protocol was used: All patients completed a questionnaire containing 11 items including Charnley categories, visual analogue scales concerning pain and satisfaction, and EQ-5D. The examiner determined the Harris hip score and radiographic examinations were performed. The fractures were classified according to the Vancouver classification. A Registry follow-up (mean 5 years) with reoperation as endpoint was performed.

Results: The annual incidence was 0.13% in 1999 and 0.11% in 2000. 52% were female. Patients who received a hip prosthesis after a hip fracture were significantly (p<0.001) more common in the fracture group compared to patients with the index diagnosis OA or RA. Sixty-six percent in the primary group and 51% in the revised group had a loose stem. There was a significant over-representation of the Charnley (p<0.001) and the Exeter (p<0.001) stems and a significant under-representation of the Lubinus (p<0.001) stem.

A major finding was that the surgeon's grading of the B1 fracture was not in agreement with the study radiologist in more than 34% of the cases. Patients with a fracture categorized as B1 operated with ORIF had a high failure rate.

The first year mortality was 13%, and 14% of the patients had a major postoperative complication prior to discharge. By December 31, 2004, 22% had been reoperated (17% during the first 12 postoperative months).

The mean Harris hip score after operation was 67 for Charnley categories A and B and 59 for Charnley C. The mean value for pain was 23 (0 – 100, none – unbearable) and the mean value for overall satisfaction was 27 (0 – 100, satisfied – dissatisfied). The mean EQ-5D index was 0.59.

Conclusion: One important observation in this study was that the majority of the stems were loose. Other major findings were the significant implant related risk factors for failure.

The underestimation of the frequency of loose implants (the surgeon classified B2 fractures as B1) likely explains the high failure rates observed in patients with B1 fractures. If there is doubt in terms of stem stability, a revision combined with ORIF is recommended.

The high rates of major complications, reoperations and poor clinical outcome indicate substantial morbidity for patients with a periprosthetic fracture. Several authors have claimed the need for a treatment algorithm for late femoral periprosthetic fractures. The results of this study strongly support such a need.

Paper 3. Risk factors associated with the late periprosthetic femoral fracture.

Introduction: Periprosthetic femoral fracture is an uncommon and severe complication after primary and revision THA surgery. This study aims to identify risk factors for such fractures.

Patients and methods: The Swedish National Total Hip Arthroplasty Register has captured 113,523 primary THAs from 1992 to 2003. Between 1979 and 2000 12,516 revision THAs have been registered. In the group of primary THAs, we identified 296 hips operated on due to a periprosthetic femoral fracture. Among the group with one or more previous revision arthroplasties, 234 patients had had a reoperation due to a periprosthetic femoral fracture. In the analysis we identified both patient related as well as implant and time related factors as-

sociated with periprosthetic fracture. Surgical technique factors were analyzed separately. **Results:** Age was a factor that decreased the risk. Another factor was calendar time since operation. For every year of increased follow-up there is a continuous increase in the risk for sustaining a periprosthetic femur fracture. The Lubinus stem and index diagnosis OA was related to a lower risk. The Charnley and Exeter stem, index diagnoses RA and hip fracture, were all related to a higher risk.Factors without significant association were the type of hospital, the surgical approach, the type of cement used and the head size.

In patients with one or several revisions prior to the fracture, the number of revisions done prior to the periprosthetic femur fracture was a strong negative predictor. This is also reflected by the fact that for each year after the first revision there is a continuous decrease of the risk factor. If the revision was performed at a university hospital it decreases the risk for future periprosthetic fracture and if performed at a county hospital it increases the risk. The index diagnosis was of no significant importance in the revision group.

Conclusion: Factors related to index diagnosis could be explained by the difference in bone quality in the different groups. We believe that stem design plays a major role in the different risk ratio connected to different implants. In the revised group, a decreased risk was associated to surgery performed at university hospitals. In conclusion, we were able to find factors associated to both increased and decreased risks for periprosthetic fracture.

Paper 4. Risk factors for failure after treatment of a periprosthetic fracture of the femur.

Introduction:Periprosthetic fracture of the femur is an uncommon complication after total hip replacement, but appears to be increasing. We undertook a nationwide observational study to determine the risk factors for failure after treatment of these fractures, examining patient and implant related factors, type of fracture (Vancouver classification) and the outcome.

Patients and methods: Between 1979 and 2000, 1,049 periprosthetic femur fractures were reported to The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register. Of these, 245 had a further operation after failure of their initial management. Data were collected from the Registry and hospital records. The material was analyzed by the use of Poisson regression models.

Results: We found that the risk of failure of treatment was reduced for Vancouver type B2 fractures (p = 0.0053) if revision of the implant was undertaken (p = 0.0033) or revision and open reduction and internal fixation (p = 0.0039) were performed. Fractures classified as Vancouver type B1 had a significantly higher risk of failure (p = 0.0001). The strongest negative factor was the use of a single plate for fixation (p = 0.001). The most common reasons for failure in this group were loosening of the femoral prosthesis, non-union and refracture.

Conclusion: Many fractures classified as Vancouver type B1 (n = 304), were in reality type B2 fractures with a loose stem which were not recognized. Plate fixation was inadequate in these cases. The difficulty in separating type B1 from type B2 fractures suggests that the prosthesis should be considered loose until proven otherwise.

Paper 5. The excess mortality due to periprosthetic femur fracture.

Introduction: The primary aim was to estimate the probability of death caused by the periprosthetic femur fracture among patients with osteoarthritis and therefore the risk of death after fracture was estimated disregarding the relationship to the fracture event. Secondary aims were to elucidate the magnitude of the risk of death compared to after a THA and compared to the general population.

Patients and methods: From 1979 to 2000, 1,049 patients with a periprosthetic fracture were registered. Patients with the primary diagnosis of osteoarthritis were selected, ending up with 736 patients. Data from 63,582 patients operated on with a THA from 1979 to 2000 and with the diagnosis of osteoarthritis were analyzed for comparison. The mortality was compared to that of the general Swedish population aged 50 years or more. Death hazard functions were estimated by Poisson regression analysis.

Results: Patients with OA receiving a primary THA had an excess mortality due to the operation. The risk was steeply decreasing during a short time (0.08 year) after the operation and reached a minimum 0.8 month after the hip replacement. The death hazard after a year or more was equal to that of the general population for age 60 and below. For the higher age groups the risk was substantially lower and increased parallel to the risk of the general population. In the fracture group there was excess mortality in connection to fracture operation but there was a large decrease of the risk during the first six months after the fracture. One year after fracture, the mortality risk was higher than that of the general population for the age group 50-70 years. The mortality risk was equal compared to the general population for ages above 70 years. At the age of 70 years, the estimated probability of death due to the fracture was 2.1% for men and 1.2% for women. At the age of 80 years at fracture, the corresponding probabilities were 3.9% and 2.2% for men and women, respectively.

Conclusion: This current study showed that the risk of death among patients with OA and a periprosthetic fracture was initially high but after six months it was the same as for the general population - except for patients younger than 70 years. Why patients with OA and a periprosthetic fracture had a higher morbidity compared to patients with OA and a THA is difficult to explain. We could not demonstrate higher co-morbidity in the fracture group and further research is needed.

Patients with OA and a periprosthetic fracture, after initially high mortality, reaches the same mortality as the general population. This stresses the importance of adequte surgery.

Material and Methods

The Registry study

The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register was initiated in 1979 (Ahnfelt 1986) and is a nationwide prospective observational study. The mission of the Registry is to improve the outcome of THA surgery. The rapid growth of new surgical techniques in conjunction with an accelerating development of new hip implant technology warrants a continuous and objective monitoring of the results paralleled with precise educational efforts. For many years, the purpose of The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register was to monitor surgical techniques and prophylactic measures to minimize complications by persistent continuous feedback to all centers that provide access to THA procedures and to provide a warning system for rapid implant failures. A substantial part of the feedback system (reporting), all publications, annual reports, and scientific exhibitions, are communicated via a web site (www.jru.orthop.gu.se). All 79 public and private orthopedic units in Sweden participate voluntarily. Copies of medical records from all reoperations and revisions are collected for further scientific studies. The results are presented as annual reports in Swedish and English (www.jru.orthop.gu.se).

There are four different databases in the Registry. In the primary THA database, all primary operations were registered since 1979. Until 1991, only the number of primary operations and the type of implant used was reported from the individual units annually. The demographics and diagnoses were estimated through figures given by Statistics Sweden (www.scb.se) and continuously validated by site specific samples. From 1992, data have been collected by patient ID regarding baseline information from the primary procedure and any subsequent open procedure. The implant has been characterized in detail during this later period. The number of patients registered by December 31,2004 was 242,393.

Since 1979, copies of the medical records on all patients with a subsequent open operation have been mailed to the Registry. Information is captured from the records and this constitutes the reoperation database. This database holds information of more than 80 parameters per reoperation. At the end of 2004 it contained 28,045 reoperations of which 22,840 were revisions with partly or complete exchange/extraction of the components.

The third database capture the prophylactic measures against aseptic loosening, infection and details of the surgical technique. The variables recorded are surgical approach, cementing technique including type of cement and mixing, the use of brush, pulsatile lavage, the use of distal femur plug and proximal seal. Type of antibiotic, length and administration mode is registered. The data is reported per department per year.

The fourth database was initiated in 2002 and data collection is still not implemented at all units (60/79). It captures patient-related outcome parameters. The primary aim is to increase the sensitivity of the Registry. All patients complete a questionnaire containing 10 items including Charnley categories (Charnley 1979), a pain and satisfaction visual analogue scale and the EQ-5D (EuroQol 1990) preoperatively and at 1 year postoperatively with the intention to repeat the measurement at 6 and 10 years postoperatively. The EQ-5D is a generic health measurement instrument. It can be presented as a health profile or as a global health index with a weighted total value for health; the minimum value is -0.594 and the maximum value is 1.0. When the index is used for cost-utility analyses, all negative values are set to 0.0.

Since all orthopedic departments report to the Registry, a unique possibility is provided to perform nationwide studies on uncommon complications.

In Study 1, the Registry was used to identify patients with a periprosthetic fracture. All

medical records were colleted. The patients were subdivided in two groups, one with the primary THA in situ (later referred to as primary group) and the other with patients having one or several revisions prior to the fracture (later referred to as revised group). The Registry databases were used to compare demographics between the fracture group and all primary THAs performed in Sweden. To get more exact information about the patients and implants, the comparison was limited to patients operated from 1992 to 2000.

In Study 2, patients with a fracture from 1999 to 2000 were reported directly to the author. As in Study 1, the fracture patients were divided into a primary and a revised group. The Registry data was used in the same manner as in Study 1. The clinical follow-up was done 1 to 4,5 years (mean 2.4) after operation and all patients were followed concerning further surgery reported to the Registry as the endpoint (December 31,2004).

In Study 3, patients with revisions prior to fracture were analyzed in comparison with all patients revised from 1979 to 2000. The "primary" fracture group was compared to all primary THAs operated from 1992 to 2003.

In Study 4, patients from Study 1, which were reoperated, were compared to the whole fracture group.

In Study 5, fracture patients with the primary diagnosis osteoarthritis (OA) were analyzed in comparison with all patients with a primary THA and the diagnosis OA that were operated from 1979 to 2000.

Medical records

Patient data in the fracture group, used in the demographic analysis in Studies 1 and 2, were collected from the medical records. Information concerning age, gender, index diagnoses, co-morbidity, trauma causing the fracture, stem loosening, type of implant, operation method, postoperative complications and reoperations were collected.

The trauma causing the fracture was categorized as spontaneous fracture (patient rising out of a chair or turning around), minor, low energy trauma and major, high energy trauma. Stem loosening was categorized as known loose (patient on waiting list for revision or aware of the loose stem), unknown loose (the loosening was detected at fracture time) and stable.

Radiographic methods

In Study 1, the fractures were classified according to the Vancouver system. Since this study in part was retrospective, we did not use radiographs for the fracture classification. It was not possible to access many of the radiographs as they were either recycled or impossible to locate. The author (H.L.), using the surgeon's interpretations and the assessment from the radiologist, did the classification.

One of the aims in Study 2 was to do a prospective radiographic follow-up. An experienced and indipendent radiologist (H.R.) analyzed all the radiographs. Pre- and postoperative radiographs and follow-up radiographs after 1 to 4.5 years were collected. The Vancouver classification system (Brady et al 1999) was used.

The radiographic definition of stem loosening was described by Harris et al (1982). The criteria for loosening were divided into three categories; definite loosening, probable and possible. The criteria for these three categories have been modified over the years and the terms probable and possible are now excluded (Mulroy and Harris 1990; Mulroy and Harris 1997). In this study, the stem was considered loose if there was a 100% continuos radio-lucent line in the cement/stem-bone interface with or without osteolysis, stem debonding, cement fracture or obvious subsidence. Concerning the fracture, the postoperative reposition was defined as exact or with dislocation. If revision with cement was performed,

cement leakage was notified. At follow-up, healing of the fracture was classified according to callus formation and if the fracture line still was visible or not. Also noted were loosening, breakages of plates, screws or wires.

Interobserver study

The fractures were first classified using the surgeon's opinion of the fracture combined with the assessment done by the local radiologists. All the radiographs were sent to a blinded and independent observer (experienced radiologist) who classified the fracture from the radiographs. These two observations were then compared in an interobserver analysis.

Intraobserver study

An intraobserver analysis performed by the study radiologist analyzing 50 radiographs with a 2 month interval between the observations was done

Outcome methods

In Study 1, all living patients operated between 1979 and 1998 received a follow-up questionnaire (se appendix). The questionnaire included 5 questions: two about impaired walking capacity due to problems with the other hip or due to other medical conditions (leading to a reassignment of the patient to different Charnley categories (Charnley 1979) one about whether the patient had undergone a second surgery (validation by Registry data), one about satisfaction with the treatment, and one about pain (none, mild, moderate, severe, or intolerable).

In Study 2, the follow-up was done at the local hospital 1 to 4.5 years (mean 2.4) postoperatively. A standardized follow-up protocol was used (see appendix). All patients completed a questionnaire containing 11 items including Charnley categories (Charnley 1979), two visual analogue scales covering pain (0 – 100, none – unbearable) and satisfaction (0 – 100, satisfied – dissatisfied) and EQ-5D (The_EuroQol_Group 1990). The examiner completed the Harris hip score (HHS) (Harris 1969; Söderman and Malchau 2001) which is a widely used disease specific assessment tool in hip replacement surgery. Mortality was obtained from the Population Register in Sweden (www.socialstyrelsen.se).

Statistical methods

Comparisons with respect to categorical variables were performed using the chi-square test, Fisher's exact test and with continuous variables by t-test. A p-value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant and two-tailed tests were performed.

Implant survivorship was analyzed according to Kaplan-Meier (Kaplan and Meier 1958) and reoperation of any kind was defined as the endpoint. The 95% confidence limits (1.96 x standard error mean) were indicated on the survival curves.

In Studies 3, 4 and 5 we have used the Poisson model. The assessment of risk depending on several variables has been performed in various fields during the last decades by use of Cox regression analysis (Altman 1997). The underlying model of proportional hazards means substantial restrictions, which we can overcome through the Poisson regression model (Breslow and Day 1987). Thus, we can achieve a number of advantages compared to the Cox model. The hazard functions will be continuous functions of time, and the change of risk by time can be studied explicitly, i.e. estimated and tested. A continuous hazard function of reoperation can be used to calculate the survival of an implant (or the need for further surgery eg. refracture) for a patient when the death hazard function is also included. Such calculations can be done from any starting point; at operation, one year afterwards, etc. The relative importance of a risk variable is allowed to depend on time. A decline or increase in the importance with time can be tested and estimated. In many applications, several time parameters are of interest to study simultaneously: time since surgery, current age and calendar time. Also, that can be achieved by use of the Poisson regression. In the simple situations, when the Cox model can be applied, Poisson regression can also be used and the results will be almost identical.

General Discussion

Epidemiology

One of the aims of Study 1 was to estimate the annual number of periprosthetic femur fractures in Sweden between 1979 and 2000. In many review articles the incidence (or risk) of periprosthetic femur fracture has been discussed. Most published studies describe one type of fracture treated with a single type of surgical method and the outcome is reported (Serocki et al 1992; Jukkala-Partio et al 1998; Sandhu et al 1999; Ahuja and Chatterji 2002). There is little information about the overall incidence (the risk) of periprosthetic fracture in a broader perspective taking, eg. time since operation, into account.

Beals and Tower (1996) identified 93 patients in a region with periprosthetic femur fracture. If the patient was primarily operated in the same region was not determined. The authors, however, estimate the incidence to be less than 1% over the life span of the implant. Löwenhielm et al (1989) evaluated the incidence of fracture, after a primary THA, in 1,442 patients operated at one hospital from 1968 to 1983. The annual incidence varied between 0 and 1.25% and the distribution of fractures was not uniform in the postoperative period. The accumulated incidence was 2.25% between 10 to 11 years after the primary THA. The incidence of fracture after THA is described in a paper (Berry 1999) from the Mayo Clinic Joint Register. They found a 1.1% incidence of postoperative period and 4% after 6,349 revision THAs.

In Study 1, we found an annual incidence that varied between 0.045% and 0.13%. As



Figure 12. The annual incidence of periprosthetic femur fracture

shown in Figure 12 there was a tendency that the incidence was increasing over time, which was in concordance with many other reports (Kavanagh 1992; Lewallen and Berry 1998; Abendschein 2003; Tsiridis et al 2003).

There are some peaks and some drops that are difficult to explain. Löwenhielm et al reports a similar finding. In order to evaluate if there was a systematic failure in the reporting of fractures, the total numbers of THAs performed at each hospital were compared to the numbers of fractures reported from each hospitals. There was no evidence of systematically underreporting. However, fractures in the trochanteric region (Vancouver A) and below the implant (Vancouver C) are probably underreported in the early register years. Since these fractures seldom engage the stem, they have probably, in some cases, been considered femur fractures (not periprosthetic) and not reported to the register.

The incidence of periprosthetic femur fracture is increasing in Sweden as showed in Figure

12. Since 2000, periprosthetic fracture is the third most common reason for revision after aseptic loosening and dislocation (Annual report 2004). From four years after a primary THA and onwards the periprosthetic femur fracture is the second most common reason for revision (Table 4).

Reason for revision	0 - 3	years	4 - 6	years	7 - 10) years	> 1	0 years	Total	Share
Aseptic loosening	2,578	48.1%	3,280	84.2%	4,315	86.8%	4,139	86.4%	14,312	75.2%
Deep infection	1,018	19.0%	173	4.4%	118	2.4%	59	1.2%	1,368	7.2%
Dislocation	937	17.5%	139	3.6%	130	2.6%	138	2.9%	1,344	7.1%
Periprosthetic fracture	264	4.9%	195	5.0%	272	5.5%	322	6.7%	1,053	5.5%
Technical error	415	7.7%	31	0.8%	27	0.5%	22	0.5%	495	2.6%
Implant fracture	45	0.8%	57	1.5%	96	1.9%	92	1.9%	290	1.5%
Miscellaneous	57	1.1%	15	0.4%	11	0.2%	14	0.3%	97	0.5%
Pain only	48	0.9%	7	0.2%	3	0.1%	4	0.1%	62	0.3%
Total	5,362	100%	3,897	100%	4,972	100%	4,790	100%	19,021	100%

Table 4. Reason for revision from the Registry (Annual report 2004)

Explanations for the observed increase may be related to widened indications for THA and a secondary increase in numbers of revisions in combination with an aged population with a THA in situ. Other explanatory factors include osteoporosis, misaligned stems with inhomogeneous cement mantle, osteolysis related to wear of the bearing surfaces and stressshielding, as well as repeat revision surgery. Asymptomatic loosening and periprosthetic osteolysis can remain undetected for a long time since clinical and radiographic follow-up is seldom undertaken in the regular OA patient with a well-documented implant in situ. However, the overall incidence in Sweden is low compared to most other reports.

Difficulty to obtain a true incidence is obvious. A better approach might be to present it as a risk analysis per patient years. In Figure 13 the hazard function for a periprosthetic fracture over time is calculated.



Risk of periprosthetic femur fracture (PFF)

Figure 13. The figure shows the hazard functions for all patients (the bolded curve in the middle), for a high risk patient (the uppermost curve) and for a low risk patient. The two extreme curves are examples, where the patients in both cases are assumed to be 65 years of age at the primary operation taking place 1992, but the values of other risk variables are unfavorable and favorable, respectively (Study 3). From the hazard function shown above it could be calculated that the probability of a periprosthetic femur fracture within 10 years was 0.64% (all patients), 2.25% (high risk) and 0.07% (low risk).

Risk factors

There are only a few published reports about risk factors (Sarvilinna et al 2004; 2005). In some review studies, (Tsiridis et al 2003; Learmonth 2004) proposed patient related risk factors are age, female gender, osteoporosis, and factors related to the implant or earlier surgical procedures such as loose stems, femur osteolysis, perforation and stress risers like, eg., old screw holes.

Gender

Many series have shown a slight dominance of fractures in females over males; 70% (14/20) Whittakers et al, 60% (21/35) Johansson et al, 52% (16/31) Bethea et al, 68% (17/25) Ruiz and 55% (47/86) Beals and Tower. Jensen reported opposite findings with a marked male dominance 77% (104/131). Some authors (Haddad et al 1999; Tsiridis et al 2003) have claimed that females have a higher risk for fracture.

In Study 1, the gender distribution was almost equal, 52% female (546/503). There was a slight dominance of females (54% (352/336)) in the revised group compared to the primary group (51% (194/167)). In Study 2, the gender distribution was the same (52% female (167/154)) as in Study 1. A female risk could not be confirmed in the current studies (1 and 2). Compared to the gender distribution of all THAs in Sweden (60% female), there are fewer females in the fracture group (52% female). On the contrary, in Study 3, we found a significantly lower risk for fracture among females, both in the primary and the revised group.

The gender distribution in different age groups is presented in Figure 14. Younger males are probably more exposed to high-energy trauma and consequently would be over represented in the younger population, but this could not be demonstrated in the current study. There is almost an equal gender distribution among younger patients. Among the elderly, there was a dominance of females. The higher average length of life for females can explain this finding.





Age

Age is another demographic parameter which could be associated with the risk of a periprosthetic fracture. In Study 1, the mean age was 74 years. For primary and revised patients, it was 75 and 72, respectively. In Study 2, the mean age was 78 years for the primary group and 74 for the revised. In the literature there is a variance in presented mean age ranging from 60 years (Johansson et al 1981) to 77 years (Ruiz et al 2000). It is relatively clear that it is the older population with a THA that is affected and is at risk. In Study 3, age was defined as a risk factor. The risk ratio (RR) was 1.01 for every year of aging.

However, in Study 1, the age range was 20 to 97 years. Even very young patients were represented in the material. We also found that patients in the fracture group had a significantly lower mean age at index operation compared to patients with a primary THA. In most reports, there is a wide range in age and when dealing with late periprosthetic femur fracture, the mean age probably is of less importance. The mean age at fracture time is dependent on

at what age the index operation is done and follow-up routines at the clinic. More relevant is time from index operation to fracture.

Index diagnoses

Study1 revealed a significant overrepresentation of patients with RA and hip fracture as index diagnoses compared to all primary THAs. This finding was confirmed in Study 3. The hazard ratio (HR) for patients with index diagnosis hip fracture was twice as high for patients with RA (2.98 versus 1.56). With the index diagnosis OA there was a significantly decreased risk. Sarvilinna et al (2004) in a case control study reported that the index diagnosis hip fracture was a risk factor for a later periprosthetic fracture.

Trauma

The majority of trauma causing the fracture was categorized as minor trauma (in the primary group 81% and in the revised group 70%). "Spontaneous" fracture was significantly more common in the revised group. Major trauma was uncommon with only 6% in the primary and 4% in the revised group. Beals and Tower (1996) reported a similar distribution between different types of trauma causing periprosthetic fracture.

One conclusion might be that the trauma is of less importance compared to bone loss in the femur. Revised patients often have stress risers like penetrations, bone loss, screw holes or bony defects. It is important, when revision is performed, to protect weak bone with a plate, onlay grafts or other internal augmentation which allows weight bearing.

Implant characteristics

In Study 1, 70% (485/688) of the patients in the primary group and 44% (160/361) in the revised group had a known or unknown loose stem. In Study 2, including patients operated with a contemporary cementing technique, there was also a high frequency of loose implants. In the literature, aseptic loosening, bone loss and osteolysis has been well described (Schmalzried et al 1992; Maloney and Smith 1995; Paprosky and Burnett 2002) and also in patients with a periprosthetic femur fracture (Bethea et al 1982; Fredin et al 1987; Jensen et al 1988; Tower and Beals 1999). The finding in the current study confirms that loosening is a highly significant risk factor.



Figure 15. The Lubinus stem

We found significant implant related risk factors in Studies 1, 2 and 3. In the literature a high incidence of intraoperative periprosthetic femur fracture is reported, among patients operated with uncemented press-fit implants (Kavanagh 1992; Ries 1997). Löwenhielm et al (1989) found different fracture patterns with different stems. Lubinus stems were associated with fractures of the distal femur while patients with Charnley-Muller, Christiansen and Brunswick prostheses had a more proximal fracture pattern. Sarvilinna et al (2005) found an increased risk for fracture among patients with the Exeter stems compared with all other types of stems.

Cement was and still is the most widely used type of fixation for THA in Sweden (Malchau et al 1993). The

three most used stem designs during the study period were the Charnley, the Lubinus and the Exeter prostheses. The Lubinus stem was significantly underrepresented in the fracture group while the Charnley and the Exeter prostheses significantly were overrepresented (Studies 1, 2 and 3). The demographics of these three groups showed no notable difference



Figure 16. The Charnley stem



Figure 17. The Exeter stem



Figure 18a. Malpositioning of the stem with osteolysis.



Figure 18b. The C-2 problem.

concerning mean age at fracture time, gender and time from index operation, and primary diagnosis. Therefore stem design probably is a risk factor.

There are some major differences in design between the three implants. The Lubinus prosthesis (Figure 15) is anatomically shaped, with a large collar and matt surface.

The Charnley (cobra model, Figure 16) stem is straight and with a bulky flange and a mini collar. The surface has a matt finish. The Exeter (Figure 17) stem is straight and symmetric, it has no collar, is double tapered and the surface is polished.

Malpositioning of the Charnley stem is a well described phenomenon (Garellick et al 1999; Garellick et al 1999), especially when using an anterolateral approach. Inadequate cement mantle with implant-bone contact has been correlated with femoral osteolysis at the tip and risk for loosening in the long-term (Garellick et al 1999; Garellick et al 1999), the so called C-2 problem (Figure 18a and b). The polished, tapered Exeter stem normally subside during the first postoperative years (Huiskes et al 1998; Verdonschot and Huiskes 1998). The tapered design, increased hoop stresses in the cement mantle and surrounding femur could predispose to a periprosthetic fracture and explain the observation in the current study. The Lubinus is anatomically shaped and provides the stem with a more uniform cementing mantle.

It is difficult to draw any conclusions regarding the effect of the revision stem since we at present do not have information on the type of bone defect, bone-grafting procedures and how well the stem by-passed the most distal defect. However, the anatomical configuration of the Lubinus SP II stem, which is frequently used in longer versions in Sweden, might explain its superior survival for much the same reasons as in the primary setting.

Environmental and technique factors

Most orthopedic clinics in Sweden use similar cementing techniques. The only surgical tech-

nique factor in the current study that increased the risk for fracture was the use of femur brush. It is difficult to explain, but earlier annual reports from the Registry show that it does not reduce the risk of revision due to aseptic loosening. The explanation for this finding is not obvious, but could be related to failures from the early and mid-eighties where brushing of the femur was the only way of cleaning the trabecular bone in femur. After rasping the femoral canal, devascularized cancellous bone probably needs be removed to provide cement inter-digitations in living bone in order to achieve stabile fixation. Failure to do so might lead to a fibrous interface, which is a harbinger of osteolysis and loosening and in the end, a periprosthetic fracture. The current use of pulsatile lavage helps to remove the devascularized cancellous bone.

Hospital type and risk

The THA is a common operation and is performed at most orthopedic units in Sweden. Based on the capture population there are four different types of hospital in Sweden; university or regional hospitals, central hospitals, rural hospitals and private hospitals.

In patients with a primary THA, there was no increased risk for a periprosthetic fracture associated with the type of hospital performing the primary THA. In the revision group, there was a decreased risk for fracture if the revision was performed at a university hospital (RR 0.56, 95% CI 0.36-0.89). This implies that this type of technically demanding surgery should be referred to units with special interest and experience in this kind of surgery.

Revision prior to fracture

Revision surgery is, in the literature, regarded as a risk for later periprosthetic femur fracture (Kavanagh 1992; Garbuz et al 1998; Lewallen and Berry 1998; Tsiridis et al 2003). The number of previous revisions (HR 2.36, 95% CI 0.98-5.65) was the factor that strongest correlated to later periprosthetic fracture in this group of patients (Study 3). Many of these patients had bone defects related to earlier revision surgery, such as bone penetration and cortical windows. This finding is reflected in the fracture classification and pattern. In the revision group, there were more patients with B1 fractures compared to the primary group (44% versus 21%). There was an opposite finding for B2 fractures with 38% in the revision group compared to 61% in the primary group. Patients with a stress riser (revised patients) more often have a horizontal single fracture line, while primary patients (with loosening) have a more comminuted fracture. It is important at revision surgery to prevent stress risers and use plates or strut grafts bridging weak parts.

Fracture treatment

Treatment of periprosthetic femur fracture is presented either in review articles (Booth 1994; Kelley 1994; Garbuz et al 1998; Jukkala-Partio et al 1998; Berry 2002; Schmidt and Kyle 2002; Gruner et al 2004; Learmonth 2004) or in articles presenting one special treatment method (Serocki et al 1992; Ries 1996; Sandhu et al 1999; Tadross et al 2000; Mennen 2003). Although, Study 1 includes 1,049 cases, it has some methodological limitations which the authors are aware of. The data is collected over a period of 22 years and at least in the beginning of the period, treatment methods to some extent are historical.

In Table 4 the fracture treatment (categorized as revision, revision + ORIF and ORIF alone) is correlated to Vancouver class. As recommended in treatment algorithms, most B1 fractures were treated with ORIF. In the B2 category, where revision is recommended, still 9% were treated with ORIF alone. In Vancouver category A and C, where by definition the

fractures do not engage the stem many patients were operated with revision or a combination of revision and ORIF.

The contemporary treatment (Study 2) is shown in Table 5. One difference compared to Study 1 was the shifting of treatment towards ORIF in B1 category. There was no other major difference in treatment methods in the two time periods.

The total number of patients treated with revision and/or revision and ORIF in all Vancouver categories was 60% (193/321). Cemented long stems were mostly used (75% (145/193)) and the rest (25% (49/193)) were treated with long, distally fixed, uncemented prostheses (Wagner or Lubinus MP). The mode of fixation at revision was based on the surgeon preference and reflects his experience in revision THA surgery. Cement was, in general, the preferred mode of fixation at rural and central hospitals and most of the uncemented implants were used at the university hospitals. In a comparison of stems, there was no difference in reoperation rate (ns. p=0.26, Fishers exact test).

The bone deficiency of the 34 B3 fractures was classified according to Paprosky and Burnett (2002). No bone loss was found to be of the more severe Paprosky type III or IV. The majority was Paprosky type II (26) and the rest had Paprosky type I bone deficiencies. The treatment was revision in 33 of the 34 B3 fractures and there was one resection arthroplasty. In 15 patients, impacted cancellous allograft was used, (Gie et al 1993; Slooff et al 1993; 1996) one patient had a cortical onlay allograft, and in 12 patients, a long, distally fixed uncemented stem was used.

In Sweden the use of cemented THA is most common. The Registry reported, in 2004, the use of cemented stems in 95% of all primary THAs. In the treatment of periprosthetic

A (n=47)	B1 (n=304)	B2 (n=555)	B3 (n=43)	C (n=100)
26% (12)	13% (41)	35% (191)	70% (30)	6% (6)
45% (21)	21% (63)	56% (312)	30% (13)	31% (31)
29% (14)	66% (200)	9% (52)	0	63% (63)
	A (n=47) 26% (12) 45% (21) 29% (14)	$\begin{array}{c c} A & B1 \\ (n=47) & (n=304) \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} 26\% (12) & 13\% (41) \\ 45\% (21) & 21\% (63) \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} 29\% (14) & 66\% (200) \end{array}$	AB1B2 $(n=47)$ $(n=304)$ $(n=555)$ 26% (12)13% (41)35% (191)45% (21)21% (63)56% (312)29% (14)66% (200)9% (52)	A (n=47)B1 (n=304)B2 (n=555)B3 (n=43)26% (12)13% (41)35% (191)70% (30)45% (21)21% (63)56% (312)30% (13)29% (14)66% (200)9% (52)0

Table 4. Treatment in different Vancouver categories from 1979 to 2000

Table 5. Treatment in different Vancouver categories from 1999 to 2000

Method	A (n=8)	B1 (n=90)	B2 (n=158)	B3 (n=34)	C (n=31)
Revision	25% (2)	10% (9)	31% (49)	68% (23)	6% (2)
Revision + ORIF	50% (4)	5% (5)	55% (86)	30% (10)	10% (3)
ORIF	25% (2)	83% (74)	12% (19)	0	74% (23)



Figure 19. Vancouver B3

fractures, most patients were revised with a cemented THA. In the literature, revision with cemented stems have been has been proposed (Johansson et al 1981; Bethea et al 1982; Fredin et al 1987; Beals and Tower 1996; McLauchlan et al 1997; Sandhu et al 1999) but in the past 7-10 years, focus has been on uncemented revision (Moran 1996; Incavo et al 1998; Macdonald et al 2001; O'Shea et al 2005; van der Wal et al 2005). From the Mayo clinic, (Springer et al 2003) 118 hips in 116 patients were evaluated after being treated with THA revision due to Vancouver type-B periprosthetic femoral fracture. Their conclusion was "At the present time, we use uncemented, extensively porous-coated, long-stemmed implants for the majority of revisions performed for the treatment of periprosthetic femoral fractures. We continue to use cemented long-stemmed implants for selected older patients with poor bone and a simple fracture pattern that can be reduced anatomically to preclude cement extrusion." The difference in revision surgery

for periprosthetic fracture between North America and Northern Europe is obvious. Uncemented stems are more of a standard procedure in North America. In Sweden, cemented revision for periprosthetic fracture is the most used treatment method. However, it seems that the fully coated stem is a good option according to Springer et al (2003) and other authors (Incavo et al 1998).

The more complicated B3 fracture (Figure 19) with extensive bone loss, is a technically demanding operation (Chandler et al 1993; Chandler and Tigges 1998; Brady et al 1999; Logel et al 1999; Wong and Gross 1999; Haddad et al 2002; Barden et al 2003; Barden et al 2003). Many authors (Barden et al 2003) advocate the use of structural allograft in combination with revision. This method is seldom used in Sweden. One reason is that allograft is not easily available Sweden. Another reason might be the good results that have been achieved with the use of impacted cancellous allograft in revision surgery (Gie et al 1993). This concept has also been used in the fracture situation. There are, however, still no long term results reported in the literature.

In Sweden, the long distally fluted uncemented stem is more frequently used. Authors describing this method have reported good results (Kolstad 1994; Berry 2003) and it seems to be a viable alternative in patients with poor proximal bone stock.

Treatment with ORIF alone was performed on 118 patients in all Vancouver classes. In 11% of the cases, an angulated plate from the knee was used and in 4%, only cerclage. In the rest of patients, either a conventional screw plate (24%) or a screw plate combined with wires or cables (61%) was used. Only a few of these fractures were treated with double plating.

Treatment outcome

The result of fracture treatment was analyzed according to Kaplan-Meier, with reoperation of any kind defined as the endpoint (Studies 1 and 2). The survivorships are presented in Figures 20 to 23. Neither in the primary nor in the revision group, were there any differences in survivorship at 5.5 years. However, in Study 1, with a longer follow-up, the survival for the revised group has continued to decrease until 13 years follow-up. Whether, at 13 years follow-up, the patients in Study 2 will have the same poor survivorship remains to be demonstrated.

The first year reoperation rate was 10% and the first year mortality was 9% in Study 1 and the corresponding values in Study 2 were 17% and 13%, respectively. The difference



Figure 20. Survival rate for operated PFF (primary), with failure defined as reoperation. 10-years survivorship $73.2 \pm 4.4\%$



Figure 21. Survival rate for operated PFF (revised), with failure defined as reoperation. 10-years survivorship 64.9 ± 6.6%



could be explained by a more aggressive attitude towards reoperation in later years. The need for further surgery (Study 2) with respect to the initial surgical treatment and the Vancouver classification is presented in Table 6.

The reoperation rate was high in Vancouver class B1 and B2 treated with ORIF alone. The dominating reasons for reoperation among patients with Vancouver B1 were nonunion, refracture and loosening, which indicates problems related to operation method. Of the remaining B1 fractures treated with ORIF, 23% (12) had no signs of fracture healing and 14% (7) had callus formation but a visible fracture line.

We believe that the high failure rate in B1, to some extent, could be explained by incorrect classification of the fracture. Many of the fractures classified as B1 fractures were B2

Method	A (n=8)	B1 (n=90)	B2 (n=158)	B3 (n=34)	C (n=31)
Revision	0	33% (3/9)	10% (5/49)	13% (3/23)	0
Revision+ ORIF	0	20% (1/5)	23% (20/86)	20% (2/10)	33% (1/3)
ORIF	0	30% (22/74)	32% (6/19)	0	25% (6/23)

Table 6. Reoperation rate in different Vancouver classes

fractures, which will be discussed in the paragraph radiological assessment. Achieving good quality fracture radiographs is difficult and gives subsequent difficulties in the classification and stem fixation estimation. This leads to an incorrect operative approach.

In most treatment algorithms (Berry 2002; Abendschein 2003; Learmonth 2004) the use of plates in B1 (by definition a stable implant) is the proposed surgical approach. The most used plates today are the combination plate or a conventional screw plate. There are several papers describing the use of plates (Haddad et al 1997; Jukkala-Partio et al 1998; Tadross et al 2000; Venu et al 2001; Park et al 2003; Tsiridis et al 2003; Agarwal et al 2005; Tsiridis et al 2005) and in some reports with a high failure rate. This could, to some extent, be explained in the use of single plates. Different biomechanical laboratory studies (Stevens et al 1995; Schmotzer et al 1996; Dennis et al 2000; Dennis et al 2001; Kuptniratsaikul et al 2001; Lin et al 2002; Ren et al 2002) have supported the use of combination plate with wire or cable proximal and screws distal and the use of two, orthogonally positioned plates. The use of strut graft combined with a plate gives good mechanical stability and the combination with a lateral plate and an anterior strut graft are considered the gold standard for B1 fractures.

In the B2 group, 19 patients were treated with ORIF alone, in most cases, due to the patient's age and short life expectancy. The high a failure rate (32%) in this group strongly support the idea that it is not advisable to use ORIF as a "salvage procedure". Instead of two operations they should have been revised the first time.

Failures in the B3 group, in five cases, were due to loosening and in one case, recurrent dislocation. Impacted cancellous graft was used when revision was performed. Probably, in the fracture revision situation the achieved stability is not as good as in "ordinary" revision. The high rate of loosening indicates this problem.

Most patients with Vancouver C fracture were treated with ORIF alone with failure rate of 25%. The stress riser created between the plate and the distal part of the implant ("kissing point") is one important factor for failure. The importance that the plate bypasses the tip of the stem must be stressed.

Radiological outcome

At follow-up Mean 2.4 years), the fracture radiographs were available in 307 patients (96%) and postoperative radiographs in 295 patients (92%). The missing radiographs had either been destroyed or the patient had died postoperatively. The total number of patients with radiographic follow-up after the initial postoperative radiographic examination was 281 (88%). The remainders were either deceased (28) or not able to take part in the radiographic examination (12).

Not presented in any paper is the outcome (cut out by referee due to page limitation). Fifty percent (139/281) of the fractures were healed with no visible fracture line and callus formation, 13% (37/281) had no signs of healing and 37% (105/281) had either a visible

Table 7. Vancouver classification of the radiographs by operating surgeon and based on the lead author's interpretation of the medical records (primary grading) compared to the one done by the study radiologist (secondary grading).

Primary/secondary grading (n=321/n=307)	A=5	B1=67	B2=144	B3=41	C=50
A=8	A=4	B1=1	B2=2		
B1=90	A1=1	B1=31	B2=22	B3=8	C=23
B2=158		B1=29	B2=99	B3=18	C=6
B3=34		B1=2	B2=15	B3=15	C=1
C=31		B1=4	B2=6		C=20

fracture line with callus or poor callus formation. In 10 patients problems with plate or screw breakage were observed and 25 patients had a loose stem. These findings indicate that the failure rate is higher than failure presented as re-operation rate.

In the radiological interobserver study (Table 7) the majority of the disagreement was within the Vancouver B fractures. A major finding was that the surgeon's grading of the B1 fracture was not in agreement with the study radiologist in more than 34% (31) of the cases. The underestimation of loose stems, likely explains the higher failure rate observed in the B1 category. A reason for this could be the suboptimal quality of the acute fracture radiographs as indicated above. If there are problems in grading the radiographs the surgeon has to rely on some other parameter such as the fracture pattern or if there are signs of cement fracture or debonding due to fracture line. If stability still is a problem to decide, there is a reason to explore the joint to be sure (Figure 24).



Figure 24. How to categorize?

Risk factors for failure after treatment

The finding that type B1 periprosthetic fractures were associated with an increased risk of failure appears to be contradictory. It would be expected that a fracture around a stable stem should unite after adequate ORIF. We suspect that the reason for the poor outcome was that the surgeon, in many cases, misinterpreted the stability of the stem and classified a type B2 fracture as type B1, and subsequently undertook treatment with plate fixation without revision of the stem. The high percentage (59%) of revisions performed after a failure in the plate group lends support to our assertion. When the surgeon classified the fracture as type B2, loosening of the stem would have been obvious and revision of the stem performed. Thus the more 'difficult' type B2 fractures were treated by a more appropriate approach with a paradoxical decreased risk for failure. The reason for the higher rate of infection among patients with plate fixation compared with those with revision lacked clear explanation. It could be that all revised patients recived the standard THA antibiotic prophylaxis in contrast to the patient treated with isolated plate fixation. Furthermore, plate fixation may have been performed by less experienced surgeons.

Patient outcome

Patient outcome after treatment for periprosthetic fracture seldom is reported in the literature. Furthermore, as in most fracture studies, the pre-fracture data (Lowenhielm et al 1989; Beals and Tower 1996; Somers et al 1998) are not available. Ruiz et al (2000) evaluated how many of the patients that went back home and how many that were mobile unaided. Healing of the fracture is as considered "excellent" in many reports, but the definition of this parameter is frequently not presented in the papers (Barfod et al 1986; Ahuja and Chatterji 2002).

In Study 2, we compared mean EQ-5D index in the fracture group with the index in 1,400 age-matched primary THA patients (6 years after operation). We found that the mean index in the fracture group was significantly worse. It was a consistent finding in all Charnley categories. Compared with other studies (Incavo et al 1998; Agarwal et al 2005; O'Shea et al 2005), the Harris hip score was low in this study. Sixty-one percent (Study 1) reported moderate to heavy pain after operation and in Study 2, the mean value for pain (VAS) was 23 (0-100).

The measurement of patient outcome indicates that the health related quality of life was low and many patients had substantial pain problems. However, in Study 1, 76% were satisfied with the result of the operation. That the patients were satisfied despite the poor outcome recorded by EQ-5D and the HHS seems contradictory. It could be explained as one patient said "*I know it was a very difficult operation, so I am glad to be able to walk afterwards*".

Excess mortality due to periprosthetic femur fracture

The excess mortality due to periprosthetic femur fracture was estimated in patients with OA (Study 5). It is known that patients with osteoporosis have a high mortality when having a hip fracture (Kanis et al 2003). Patients with OA generally do not have osteoporosis, (Burger et al 1996; Arokoski et al 2002; Hochberg et al 2004) and there is no evidence for a higher risk of death in this population.

We found that patients with a periprosthetic femur fracture had an excess mortality due to the surgery. Mortality subsequently decreased over a period of six months, but for the age group 50-70, the risk of death was higher compared to the general population. In the age group 70 years and older, the mortality risk was the same as for the general population. Age was the most important factor in the excess mortality.

The typical periprosthetic fracture is to some extent possible to prevent. In the light of the increased mortality at surgery, prevention once again must be stressed. The observed higher mortality in the younger group is difficult to explain. The Norwegian Arthroplasty Register has reported the same including all diagnoses (Lie et al 2000). Maybe this age group needs extra attention since they obviously are at risk for death compared to the general population. The finding that older patients in the fracture group had the same mortality risk as the general population is important. This stresses the importance of good surgery in the older patients even if the treatment is technically demanding. It is important to do it right the first time.

Conclusions

Overall conclusion

• The Swedish National Hip Arthroplasty Register is a unique instrument for studies of uncommon complications after THA surgery. The current study is to our knowledge the largest reported material (1,049) of late periprosthetic femur fractures.

Specific conclusions

- It is difficult, due to several confounding factors, to obtain the true incidence of periprosthetic femur fractures. The found annual incidence of periprosthetic femur fracture varied between 0.045% and 0.13%, and increased towards the end of the study period.
- Female gender and osteoarthritis were associated with a decreased risk while age and index diagnoses rheumatoid arthritis and hip fracture had an in creased risk for sustaining a periprosthetic fracture. In the revised group the strongest predictor was the number of revisions performed before the fracture.
- The anatomically shaped Lubinus SP II prosthesis had a significantly decreased risk. The Charnley and the Exeter prostheses had significantly increased risk for peripros thetic fracture. A majority of the patients had a loose stem at the time for fracture. This finding stresses the importance of longitudinal clinical and radiographic follow-up of patients operated with a THA.
- Patients operated for a periprosthetic femur fracture had on average poor clinical out come at a mean follow-up of 2.5 years both concerning health related quality of life and disease-specific assessment.
- We found high frequencies of major complications and reoperations. Approximately every fifth patient was in need of further surgery during the study period and 50% of them were reoperated within 12 months postoperatively. The 5-year survivorship with reoperation as endpoint was 74.8 ±5%.
- The strongest negative factor associated with failure, was the use of a single plate in cases with a stem considered as stable at fracture surgery. This paradoxical finding is probably due to an underestimation of stem loosening.
- There was an excess mortality at fracture event in patients with OA. The mortality rate decreased during 6 months and stabilized on a similar level as the general population in Sweden, except in patients younger than 70 years.
- The general poor results after surgical treatment of periprosthetic femur fractures indicate the need of further studies in this field.

Recommendations

- A very important issue is prevention of periprosthetic fractures. In 2002, a follow-up routine for all patients operated with a THA in Sweden was initiated by the Registry. reoperatively and at 1, 6 and 10 years postoperatively all patients complete a question naire and a radiographic examination is performed. This follow-up system aims to be come a standardized and nationwide routine. Loosening and wear, with or without peri prosthetic bone loss, is generally a progressive and clinically silent process, and therefore patients come for consultation only at a late stage. With early detection of asymptom atic changes revealed only by radiography and a subsequent surgical intervention at an earlierstage, may lead to a decrease of the incidence of late periprosthetic fractures. In the currentstudy risk factors associated with both patient demographics and implant de signshave been identified. According to these findings a patient with an increased risk for sustaining a periprosthetic fracture could be followed more frequently.
- Implant related factors were a major finding and a collarless straight and short stem were associated to a higher risk compared an anatomically shaped, longer and collared stem. These findings might be of importance when choosing a cemented hip prosthesis for routine use.
- A reliable and valid classification system is important and the treatment should be guided by the classification of the fracture. The Vancouver system meets most of these criteria and is therefore considered the gold standard and now widely used. We found, however, in this study a low agreement between observers in the B category. An underestimation of stem loosening with suboptimal treatment and a high failure rate was one consequence and hence we recommend verifying the stem stability by joint exploration in Vancouver B.Another problem is that not all patients can be categorized by the Vancouver system. One example is a patient with a stable stem but with osteolysis at the stem tip and a fracture. We propose that loosening and osteolysis must be considered first. Secondary, according to fracture localisation, proper treatment can be discussed. We suggest, based on the above considerations, an expanded Vancouver classification system as well as a partly new treatment algorithm.



Acknowledgements

Göran Garellick, MD, PhD, my tutor for all help with English grammar, the mystery of Power-Point and guidance in modern (some would call it contemporary) Swedish art. Without you this would not have been possible.

Henrik Malchau, professor, our man in Boston and also my tutor. Your ideas have been the seed and soil for this thesis and your revision of manuscripts always is fast and always a positive experience. Your hospitality and all I have learned about IKEA furniture will never be forgotten.

Peter Herberts, professor emeritus, you introduced me to the academic world and gave me free hands to continue my work, despite the long and winding road.

Anders Odén, professor, I am so grateful that you have been so calm despite all my calls and, I suppose, silly questions. You know, I am just an ordinary orthopedic surgeon.

Hans Regnér, MD, for the evaluation of hundreds of radiographs and all the nice chats.

Thomas Eisler, MD, PhD, thank you for your brilliant advise.

Jón Karlsson, professor, for all the scientific advice and support.

Alf Nachemson, professor emeritus, for all the inspiring work you have done.

Björn Rydevik, professor, for your kind support and giving me the opportunity to do this.

Lars Körner, associate professor, during my clinical as well as my scientific journey, your support and good advice has been most encouraging.

Lennart Ahnfelt, MD, PhD, you have guided me through the art of operating hip arthroplasties and selecting a good wine.

Jüri Kartus, associate professor, who have learned me a lot about things I can not mention here. You have such a good down-to-earth attitude towards research and life, but above all you are a very good friend.

Lars Ejerhed, MD,PhD, for all that we have done together. You are my closest friend and colleague at the clinic. I can not imagine a life as a doctor without you around. Probably we will end up on the same bench, as two old retired orthopedics feeding the pigeons.

Lars Karlsson, MD, for your positive attitude towards research at the clinic and above all an inspiring colleague.

Kajsa Erikson, Karin Lindborg, Karin Petterson, at the coordinating center. Without your help "hunting" all missing radiographs, patient data in the basement and patients missing at follow-up this would have ended as a catastroph.

Helena Johansson, MSci, for all the statistic work and above all your patience with me.

Meredith Greene, for your excellent and rapid linguistic revision of manuscripts and the thesis and sharing your room.

Linda Johansson, for all the help leading me throw the mystery of the academic world.

Janne Rak, hospital photographer, for copying thousands of radiographs and all other things concerning pictures.

Ramin Namitabar and Roger Salomonsson, for all the help with the computer and the data base.

Kent Karlsson, for all the help with the cover. I really like you.

Bob Dylan, your songs are helpful when things get rough.

All Swedish orthopedic surgeons, without you this would not have been possible.

Most of all – my wife Elisabeth, which I love above all and our children Ludvig, Daniel, Therese, David and the little surprise Maja.

The studies have been financially supported by Göteborg Medical association, Greta and Einar Askers foundation, Doctor Félix Neubergh Foundation, Hjalmar Svenssons Foundation, Västra Götaland Research Foundation and the Fyrbodal Institute.

References

- 1. Abendschein, W. "Periprosthetic femur fractures--a growing epidemic." Am J Orhop 32: 34-6, 2003.
- 2. Abhaykumar, S. and D. S. Elliott. "Percutaneous plate fixation for periprosthetic femoral fractures--a preliminary report." Injury 31: 627-30., 2000.
- 3. Adolphson, P., U. Jonsson and R. Kalen. "Fractures of the ipsilateral femur after total hip arthroplasty." Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 106: 353-7, 1987.
- 4. Agarwal, S., C. M. Andrews and G. M. Bakeer. "Outcome following stabilization of type B1 periprosthetic femoral fractures." J Arthroplasty 20: 118-21, 2005.
- 5. Ahnfelt, L. (1986). Re-opererade totala höftplastiker i Sverige under åren 1979-1983. Dep. of Orthopaedics. Göteborg, Göteborg University.
- 6. Ahuja, S. and S. Chatterji. "The Mennen femoral plate for fixation of peri prosthetic femoral fractures following hip arthroplasty." Injury 33: 47-50, 2002.
- 7 Altman, D. G. (1997). Practical statistics for medical research. London, Chapman & Hall.
- Arokoski, J. P., M. H. Arokoski, J. S. Jurvelin, H. J. Helminen, L. H. Niemi tukia and H. Kroger. "Increased bone mineral content and bone size in the femoral neck of men with hip osteoarthritis." Ann Rheum Dis 61: 145-50, 2002.
- Barden, B., Y. Ding, J. G. Fitzek and F. Loer. "Strut allografts for failed treat ment of periprosthetic femoral fractures: good outcome in 13 patients." Acta Orthop Scand 74:146-53, 2003.
- Barden, B., M. von Knoch, J. G. Fitzek and F. Loer. "Periprosthetic fractures with xtensive bone loss treated with onlay strut allografts." Int Orthop 27: 164-7, 2003.
- 11. Barfod, G., J. Steen Jensen, D. Hansen, E. Larsen, H. Menck, B. Olsen and A. Rosenklint. "Hemi-arthroplasty of the hip followed by ipsilateral fracture of the femoral shaft." Injury 17: 104-6, 1986.
- 12. Beals, R. K. and S. S. Tower. "Periprosthetic fractures of the femur. An analy sis of 93 fractures." Clin Orthop: 238-46, 1996.
- 13. Berry, D. J. "Epidemiology Hip and Knee." Clin Orthop 30: 183-189, 1999.
- Berry, D. J. "Management of periprosthetic fractures: the hip." J Arthroplasty 17: 11-3, 2002.
- 15. Berry, D. J. "Periprosthetic fractures associated with osteolysis: a problem on the rise." J Arthroplasty 18: 107-11, 2003.
- 16. Berry, D. J. "Treatment of Vancouver B3 periprosthetic femur fractures with a fluted tapered stem." Clin Orthop: 224-31, 2003.
- Bethea, J. S., 3rd, J. R. DeAndrade, L. L. Fleming, S. D. Lindenbaum and R. B. Welch. "Proximal femoral fractures following total hip arthroplasty." Clin Orthop Relat Res: 95-106, 1982.

- Booth, R. E., Jr. "Management of periprosthetic fractures." Orthopedics 17: 845-7, 1994.
- 19. Brady, O. H., D. S. Garbuz, B. A. Masri and C. P. Duncan. "Classification of the hip." Orthop Clin North Am 30: 215-20, 1999.
- 20. Brady, O. H., D. S. Garbuz, B. A. Masri and C. P. Duncan. "The treatment of periprosthetic fractures of the femur using cortical onlay allograft struts." Orthop Clin North Am 30: 249-57, 1999.
- 21. Brady, O. H., D. S. Garbuz, B. A. Masri and C. P. Duncan. "The reliability and validity of the vancouver classification of femoral fractures after hip re placement." J Arthroplasty 15: 59-62, 2000.
- 22. Breslow, N. E. and N. E. Day. "Statistical methods in cancer research." IARC Scientific Publications 2: 131-135, 1987.
- 23. Brown, I. W. and P. A. Ring. "Osteolytic changes in the upper femoral shaft following porous-coated hip replacement." J Bone Joint Surg Br 67: 218-21, 1985.
- Burger, H., P. L. van Daele, E. Odding, H. A. Valkenburg, A. Hofman, D. E. Grobbee, H. E. Schutte, J. C. Birkenhager and H. A. Pols. "Association of radiographically evident osteoarthritis with higher bone mineral density and increased bone loss with age. The Rotterdam Study." Arthritis Rheum 39: 81-6, 1996.
- 25. Buxton, R. A., A. W. Kinninmonth and J. R. Dohler. "Second femur fracture after hemiarthroplasty of the hip: salvage procedure by Partridge bands and long-stemmed prosthesis." Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 105: 375-6, 1986.
- Chandler, H. P., D. King, R. Limbird, A. Hedley, J. McCarthy, B. Penenberg and K. Danylchuk. "The use of cortical allograft struts for fixation of fractures associated with well-fixed total joint prostheses." Semin Arthroplasty 4: 99-107, 1993.
- 27. Chandler, H. P. and R. G. Tigges. "The role of allografts in the treatment of periprosthetic femoral fractures." Instr Course Lect 47: 257-64, 1998.
- 28. Charnley, J. "The healing of human fractures in contact with self-curing acryl ic cement." Clin Orthop 47: 157-163, 1966.
- 29. Charnley, J. (1979). Low friction arthroplasty of the hip. Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- 30. Courpied, J., L. Watin-Augouard and M. Postel. "Fractures du femur chez les sujets porteurs de protheses totales de hanche ou de genou." International orthopaedics 11: 109-115, 1987.
- 31. de Ridder, V. A., S. de Lange, A. R. Koomen and F. W. Heatley. "Partridge osteosynthesis: a prospective clinical study on the use of nylon cerclage bands and plates in the treatment of periprosthetic femoral shaft fractures." J Orthop Trauma 15: 61-5., 2001.
- 32. Dennis, M. G., J. A. Simon, F. J. Kummer, K. J. Koval and P. E. Di Cesare. "Fixation of periprosthetic femoral shaft fractures: a biomechanical compari son of two techniques." J Orthop Trauma 15: 177-80, 2001.

- 33. Dennis, M. G., J. A. Simon, F. J. Kummer, K. J. Koval and P. E. DiCesare. "Fixation of periprosthetic femoral shaft fractures occurring at the tip of the stem: a biomechanical study of 5 techniques." J Arthroplasty 15: 523-8., 2000.
- 34. EuroQual. "EuroQol a new facility for measurment of health-related quality of life." Health 16(3): 199-208, 1990.
- 35. Fredin, H. O., H. Lindberg and A. S. Carlsson. "Femoral fracture following hip arthroplasty." Acta Orthop Scand 58: 20-2, 1987.
- 36. Frigg, R., A. Appenzeller, R. Christensen, A. Frenk, S. Gilbert and R. Scha van. "The development of the distal femur Less Invasive Stabilization System (LISS)." Injury 32 Suppl 3: SC24-31, 2001.
- 37. Fulkerson, E., K. Koval, C. F. Preston, K. Iesaka, F. J. Kummer and K. A. Egol. "Fixation of periprosthetic femoral shaft fractures associated with ce mented femoral stems: a biomechanical comparison of locked plating and con ventional cable plates." J Orthop Trauma 20: 89-93, 2006.
- 38. Garbuz, D. S., B. A. Masri and C. P. Duncan. "Periprosthetic fractures of the femur: principles of prevention and management." Instr Course Lect 47: 237-42, 1998.
- Garellick, G., H. Malchau and P. Herberts. "The Charnley versus the Spec tron hip prosthesis: clinical evaluation of a randomized, prospective study of 2 different hip implants." J Arthroplasty 14: 407-13, 1999.
- 40. Garellick, G., H. Malchau, H. Regner and P. Herberts. "The Charnley versus the Spectron hip prosthesis: radiographic evaluation of a randomized, prospective study of 2 different hip implants." J Arthroplasty 14: 414-25, 1999.
- Gie, G. A., L. Linder, R. S. Ling, J. P. Simon, T. J. Slooff and A. J. Timperley. "Impacted cancellous allografts and cement for revision total hip arthroplasty." J Bone Joint Surg Br 75: 14-21, 1993.
- 42. Gruner, A., T. Hockertz and H. Reilmann. "[Periprosthetic fractures: classif ication, management, therapy]." Unfallchirurg 107: 35-49, 2004.
- 43. Haddad, F. S., C. P. Duncan, D. J. Berry, D. G. Lewallen, A. E. Gross and H. P. Chandler. "Periprosthetic femoral fractures around well-fixed implants: use of cortical onlay allografts with or without a plate." J Bone Joint Surg Am 84-A: 945-50, 2002.
- 44. Haddad, F. S., R. A. Marston and S. K. Muirhead-Allwood. "The Dall-Miles cable and plate system for periprosthetic femoral fractures." Injury 28: 445-7, 1997.
- 45. Haddad, F. S., B. A. Masri, D. S. Garbuz and C. P. Duncan. "The prevention of periprosthetic fractures in total hip and knee arthroplasty." Orthop Clin North Am 30: 191-207, 1999.
- Harris, M. B., A. L. Schiller, J. M. Scholler, R. A. Freiberg and R. Scott. "Ex tensive localized bone resorption in the femur following total hip replace ment." J Bone Joint Surg Am 58: 612-8, 1976.

- 47. Harris, W. H. "Traumatic arthritis of the hip after dislocation and acetabu lar fractures: treatment by mold arthroplasty. An end-result study using a new method of result evaluation." J Bone Joint Surg Am 51: 737-55, 1969.
- Harris, W. H., J. C. McCarthy, Jr. and D. A. O'Neill. "Femoral component loosening using contemporary techniques of femoral cement fixation." J Bone Joint Surg Am 64: 1063-7, 1982.
- 49. Hochberg, M. C., M. Lethbridge-Cejku and J. D. Tobin. "Bone minealden sity and osteoarthritis: data from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging." Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12 Suppl A: S45-8, 2004.
- 50. Horwitz, J. B. and M. J. Lenobel. "Artificial hip prosthesis in acute and nonunion fractures of femoral neck." JAMA 155: 564-7, 1954.
- Howell, J. R., B. A. Masri, D. S. Garbuz, N. V. Greidanus and C. P. Duncan. "Cable plates and onlay allografts in periprosthetic femoral fractures after hip replacement: laboratory and clinical observations." Instr Course Lect 53: 99-110, 2004.
- 52. Hsieh, P. H., Y. H. Chang, P. C. Lee and C. H. Shih. "Periprosthetic fractures of the greater trochanter through osteolytic cysts with uncemented MicroStructured Omnifit prosthesis: retrospective analyses pf 23 fractures in 887 hips after 5-14 years." Acta Orthop 76: 538-43, 2005.
- 53. Huddleston, H. D. "Femoral lysis after cemented hip arthroplasty." J Arthroplasty 3: 285-97, 1988.
- 54. Huiskes, R., N. Verdonschot and B. Nivbrant. "Migration, stem shape, and surface finish in cemented total hip arthroplasty." Clin Orthop Relat Res: 103-12, 1998.
- Incavo, S. J., D. M. Beard, F. Pupparo, M. Ries and J. Wiedel. "One-stage revision of periprosthetic fractures around loose cemented total hip arthro plasty." Am J Orthop 27: 35-41, 1998.
- Jensen, J. S., G. Barfod, D. Hansen, E. Larsen, F. Linde, H. Menck and B. Olsen. "Femoral shaft fracture after hip arthroplasty." Acta Orthop Scand 59: 9-13, 1988.
- 57. Johansson, J. E., R. McBroom, T. W. Barrington and G. A. Hunter. "Frac ture of the ipsilateral femur in patients wih total hip replacement." J Bone Joint Surg Am 63: 1435-42, 1981.
- 58. Jones, D. G. "Bone erosion beneath Partridge bands." J of Bone and Joint Surg (Br) 68: 476-477, 1986.
- 59. Jones, L. C. and D. S. Hungerford. "Cement disease." Clin Orthop Relat Res: 192-206, 1987.
- 60. Jukkala-Partio, K., E. K. Partio, S. Solovieva, T. Paavilainen, E. Hirvensalo and A. Alho. "Treatment of periprosthetic fractures in association with total hip arthroplasty--a retrospective comparison between revision stem and plate fixation." Ann Chir Gynaecol 87: 229-35, 1998.
- 61. Kanis, J. A., A. Oden, O. Johnell, C. De Laet, B. Jonsson and A. K. Ogles by. "The components of excess mortality after hip fracture." Bone 32: 468-73, 2003.

- 62. Kaplan, E. and P. Meier. "Nonparametric estimation from incomplete obseravtion." J Am Stat Assoc 53: 457-481, 1958.
- 63. Kavanagh, B. F. "Femoral fractures associated with total hip arthroplasty." Or thop Clin North Am 23: 249-57, 1992.
- 64. Kelley, S. S. "Periprosthetic Femoral Fractures." J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2: 164-172, 1994.
- Klein, G. R., J. Parvizi, V. Rapuri, C. F. Wolf, W. J. Hozack, P. F. Sharkey and J. J. Purtill. "Proximal femoral replacement for the treatment of periprostheticfractures." J Bone Joint Surg Am 87: 1777-81, 2005.
- 66. Kligman, M., I. Otramsky and M. Roffman. "Conservative versus surgical treatment for femoral fracture after total or hemiarthroplasty of hip." Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 119: 79-81, 1999.
- 67. Kolstad, K. "Revision THR after periprosthetic femoral fractures. An analysis of 23 cases." Acta Orthop Scand 65: 505-8, 1994.
- 68. Kuptniratsaikul, S., C. Brohmwitak, T. Techapongvarachai and P. Itiravivong. "Plate-screw-wiring technique for the treatment of periprosthetic fracture around the hip: a biomechanical study." J Med Assoc Thai 84 Suppl 1: S415-22, 2001.
- 69. Learmonth, I. D. "The management of periprosthetic fractures around the femoral stem." J Bone Joint Surg Br 86: 13-9, 2004.
- Lewallen, D. G. and D. J. Berry. "Periprosthetic fracture of the femur after total hip arthroplasty: treatment and results to date." Instr Course Lect 47: 243-9, 1998.
- Lie, S. A., L. B. Engesaeter, L. I. Havelin, H. K. Gjessing and S. E. Vollset. "Mortality after total hip replacement: 0-10-year follow-up of 39,543 patients in the Norwegian Arthroplasty Register." Acta Orthop Scand 71: 19-27, 2000.
- 72. Lin, A. R., D. H. Gao, B. S. Hu and G. H. Ren. "Biomechanical study of double-plate fixation for comminuted fractures of the distal femur." Di Yi Jun Yi Da Xue Xue Bao 22: 148-50, 2002.
- 73. Logel, K. J., P. F. Lachiewicz, G. A. Schmale and S. S. Kelley. "Cortical strut allografts for the treatment of femoral fractures and deficiencies in revision total hip arthroplasty." J South Orthop Assoc 8: 163-72; discussion 172., 1999.
- Lowenhielm, G., L. I. Hansson and J. Karrholm. "Fracture of the lower ex tremity after total hip replacement." Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 108: 141-3, 1989.
- 75. Macdonald, S. J., W. G. Paprosky, W. S. Jablonsky and R. G. Magnus. "Periprosthetic femoral fractures treated with a long-stem cementless component." J Arthroplasty 16: 379-83, 2001.
- Malchau, H., P. Herberts and L. Ahnfelt. "Prognosis of total hip replacement in Sweden. Follow-up of 92,675 operations performed 1978-1990." Acta Or thop Scand 64: 497-506, 1993.

- 77. Malchau, H., P. Herberts, T. Eisler, G. Garellick and P. Soderman. "The Swedish Total Hip Replacement Register." J Bone Joint Surg Am 84-A Suppl 2:2-20, 2002.
- 78. Maloney, W. and R. Smith. "Periprosthetic osteolysis in total hip arthroplasty: the role of particulate wear debris." Instr Course Lect 45: 171-82, 1996.
- Maloney, W. J., M. Jasty, W. H. Harris, J. O. Galante and J. J. Callaghan. "Endosteal erosion in association with stable uncemented femoral components." J Bone Joint Surg Am 72: 1025-34, 1990.
- Maloney, W. J., M. Jasty, A. Rosenberg and W. H. Harris. "Bone lysis in well-fixed cemented femoral components." J Bone Joint Surg Br 72: 966-70, 1990.
- 81. Maloney, W. J. and R. L. Smith. "Periprosthetic osteolysis in total hip arthroplasty: the role of particulate wear debris." J Bone Joint Surg Am 77-A: 1448-1461, 1995.
- 82. McElfresh, E. C. and M. B. Coventry. "Femoral and pelvic fractures after to tal hip arthroplasty." J Bone Joint Surg Am 56: 483-92, 1974.
- 83. McLauchlan, G. J., C. M. Robinson, B. R. Singer and J. Christie. "Results of an operative policy in the treatment of periprosthetic femoral fracture." J Orthop Trauma 11: 170-9, 1997.
- 84. Mennen, U. "Mennen plate fixation for the treatment of periprosthetic femo ral fractures." J Bone Joint Surg Am 85-A: 2248-9; author reply 2249, 2003.
- 85. Mont, M. A. and D. C. Maar. "Fractures of the ipsilateral femur after hip ar throplasty. A statistical analysis of outcome based on 487 patients." J Arthro plasty 9: 511-9, 1994.
- 86. Moran, M. C. "Treatment of periprosthetic fractures around total hip arthroplasty with an extensively coated femoral component." J Arthroplasty 11: 981-8, 1996.
- 87. Mulay, S., T. Hassan, S. Birtwistle and R. Power. "Management of types B2 and B3 femoral periprosthetic fractures by a tapered, fluted, and distally fixed stem." J Arthroplasty 20: 751-6, 2005.
- Mulroy, R. D., Jr. and W. H. Harris. "The effect of improved cementing tech niques on component loosening in total hip replacement. An 11-year radio graphic review." J Bone Joint Surg Br 72: 757-60, 1990.
- 89. Mulroy, W. F. and W. H. Harris. "Acetabular and femoral fixation 15 years af ter cemented total hip surgery." Clin Orthop Relat Res: 118-28, 1997.
- O'Shea, K., J. E. Quinlan, S. Kutty, D. Mulcahy and O. H. Brady. "The use of uncemented extensively porous-coated femoral components in the management of Vancouver B2 and B3 periprosthetic femoral fractures." J Bone Joint Surg Br 87-B: 1617-1621, 2005.
- 91. Ogden, W. S. and J. Rendell. "Fractures beneth hip prosthsis: a special indica tion for Parham bands and plating." Orthop. Trans. 2:70, 1978.
- 92. Otremski, I., I. Nusam, M. Glickman and R. J. Newman. "Mennen paraskel etal plate fixation for fracture of the femoral shaft in association with ipsilat eral hip arthroplasty." Injury 29: 421-3, 1998.

- Paprosky, W. G. and R. S. Burnett. "Assessment and classification of bone stock deficiency in revision total hip arthroplasty." Am J Orthop 31: 459-64, 2002.
- 94. Park, M. S., Y. K. Lee, K. H. Yang and S. J. Shin. "Management of peripros thetic femoral fractures." J Arthroplasty 18: 903-6, 2003.
- 95. Parrish, T. F. and J. R. Jones. "Fractures of the femur following prosthetic ar throplasty of the hip." J Bone Joint Surg Am 46A: 241-248, 1964.
- Parvizi, J., V. R. Rapuri, J. J. Purtill, P. F. Sharkey, R. H. Rothman and W. J. Hozack. "Treatment protocol for proximal femoral periprosthetic fractures." J Bone Joint Surg Am 86-A Suppl 2: 8-16, 2004.
- Petersen, V. S. "Problems with the Mennen plate when used for femoral fractures associated with implants. A report of 5 patients." Int Orthop 22: 169-70, 1998.
- 98. Radcliffe, S. N. and D. N. Smith. "The Mennen plate in periprosthetic hip fractures." Injury 27: 27-30, 1996.
- 99. Ren, G. H., A. R. Lin, K. J. Shen, G. X. Pei, L. Q. Gu and B. S. Hu. "[An experimental study of treatment of comminuted distal femur fracture with locked double- plating]." Di Yi Jun Yi Da Xue Xue Bao 22: 1082-6, 2002.
- 100. Ries, M. D. "Intraoperative modular stem lengthening to treat periprosthetic femur fracture." J Arthroplasty 11: 204-5, 1996.
- 101. Ries, M. D. "Periprosthetic fractures: early and late." Orthopedics 20: 798-800, 1997.
- 102. Ritschl, P. and R. Kotz. "Fractures of the proximal femur in patients with to tal hip endoprostheses." Arch. orthop. trauma surg., 1986.
- 103. Roffman, M. "Fracture of the femur after total hip arthroplasty." Orthopedics 12: 1067-1070, 1989.
- 104. Ruiz, A. L., N. W. Thompson and J. G. Brown. "Periprosthetic femoral frac tures in Northern Ireland." Ulster Med J 69: 118-22, 2000.
- 105. Sandhu, S. S., E. D. Fern and S. W. Parsons. "An improved cementing technique for revision hip surgery after peri- prosthetic fractures." Injury 30: 195-8.,1999.
- 106. Sarvilinna, R., H. Huhtala and J. Pajamaki. "Young age and wedge stem de sign are risk factors for periprosthetic fracture after arthroplasty due to hip fracture. A case-control study." Acta Orthop 76: 56-60, 2005.
- 107 Sarvilinna, R., H. S. Huhtala, T. J. Puolakka, J. K. Nevalainen and K. J.Pajamaki. "Periprosthetic fractures in total hip arthroplasty: an epidemiolog ic study." Int Orthop 27: 359-61, 2003.
- 108. Sarvilinna, R., H. S. Huhtala, R. T. Sovelius, P. J. Halonen, J. K. Nevalainen and K. J. Pajamaki. "Factors predisposing to periprosthetic fracture after hip arthroplasty: a case (n = 31)-control study." Acta Orthop Scand 75: 16-20, 2004.
- 109. Schatzker, J. "Fractures of the distal femur revisited." Clin Orthop Relat Res: 43-56, 1998.

- 110. Schmalzried, T. P., M. Jasty and W. H. Harris. "Periprosthetic bone loss in total hip arthroplast." J Bone Joint Surg Am 74-A: 849-863, 1992.
- 111. Schmidt, A. H. and R. F. Kyle. "Periprosthetic fractures of the femur." Or thop Clin North Am 33: 143-52, ix, 2002.
- 112. Schmotzer, H., G. H. Tchejeyan and D. M. Dall. "Surgical management of intra- and postoperative fractures of the femur about the tip of the stem in to tal hip arthroplasty." J Arthroplasty 11: 709-17, 1996.
- 113. Serocki, J. H., R. W. Chandler and L. D. Dorr. "Treatment of fractures about hip prostheses with compression plating." J Arthroplasty 7: 129-35, 1992.
- 114. Siegmeth, A., W. Menth-Chiari, G. E. Wozasek and V. Vecsei. "[Peripros thetic femur shaft fracture. Indications and outcome in 51 patients]." Un fallchirurg 101: 901-6, 1998.
- 115. Siegmeth, A., W. A. Menth-Chiari, G. E. Wozasek and V. Vecsei. "Femur fractures in patients with hip arthroplasty: indications for revision arthroplasty." J South Orthop Assoc 7: 251-8, 1998.
- 116. Slooff, T. J., P. Buma, B. W. Schreurs, J. W. Schimmel, R. Huiskes and J. Gardeniers. "Acetabular and femoral reconstruction with impacted graft and cement." Clin Orthop Relat Res: 108-15, 1996.
- 117. Slooff, T. J., J. W. Schimmel and P. Buma. "Cemented fixation with bone grafts." Orthop Clin North Am 24: 667-77, 1993.
- 118. Soderman, P. and H. Malchau. "Is the Harris hip score system useful to study the outcome of total hip replacement?" Clin Orthop Relat Res: 189-97, 2001.
- 119. Somers, J. F., R. Suy, J. Stuyck, M. Mulier and G. Fabry. "Conservative treatment of femoral shaft fractures in patients with total hip arthroplasty." J Arthroplasty 13: 162-71, 1998.
- 120. Springer, B. D., D. J. Berry and D. G. Lewallen. "Treatment of periprosthet ic femoral fractures following total hip arthroplasty with femoral component revision." J Bone Joint Surg Am 85-A: 2156-62, 2003.
- 121. Stevens, S. S., A. J. Irish, J. G. Vachtsevanos, J. Csongradi and G. S. Beaupre. "A biomechanical study of three wiring techniques for cerclage-plating." J Orthop Trauma 9: 381-7, 1995.
- 122. Tadross, T. S., A. M. Nanu, M. J. Buchanan and R. G. Checketts. "Dall-Miles plating for periprosthetic B1 fractures of the femur." J Arthroplasty 15: 47-51., 2000.
- 123. The_EuroQol_Group. "EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life." Health Policy 16: 199-208, 1990.
- 124. Tower, S. S. and R. K. Beals. "Fractures of the femur after hip replacement: the Oregon experience." Orthop Clin North Am 30: 235-47, 1999.
- 125. Tsiridis, E., F. S. Haddad and G. A. Gie. "Dall-Miles plates for periprosthetic femoral fractures. A critical review of 16 cases." Injury 34: 107-10, 2003.
- 126. Tsiridis, E., F. S. Haddad and G. A. Gie. "The management of periprosthetic femoral fractures around hip replacements." Injury 34: 95-105, 2003.

- 127. Tsiridis, E., A. A. Narvani, J. A. Timperley and G. A. Gie. "Dynamic compression plates for Vancouver type B periprosthetic femoral fractures: a 3-year follow-up of 18 cases." Acta Orthop 76: 531-7, 2005.
- 128. Uchio, Y., N. Shu, U. Nishikawa, K. Takata and M. Ochi. "Mennen plate fixation for fractures of the femoral shaft after ipsilateral hip arthroplasty." J Trauma 42: 1157-60, 1997.
- 129. van der Wal, B. C., M. Vischjager, B. Grimm, I. C. Heyligers and A. J. Tonino. "Periprosthetic fractures around cementless hydroxyapatite-coated femoral stems." Int Orthop 29: 235-40, 2005.
- 130. Wenda, K., M. Runkel, J. Degreif and L. Rudig. "Minimally invasive plate fixation in femoral shaft fractures." Injury 28 Suppl 1: A13-9, 1997.
- 131. Venu, K. M., R. Koka, R. Garikipati, Y. Shenava and T. S. Madhu. "Dall-Miles cable and plate fixation for the treatment of peri-prosthetic femoral fractures-analysis of results in 13 cases." Injury 32: 395-400, 2001.
- 132. Verdonschot, N. and R. Huiskes. "Surface roughness of debonded straight-tapered stems in cemented THA reduces subsidence but not cement damage." Biomaterials 19: 1773-9, 1998.
- 133. Whittaker, R. P., N. S. Lazaros and E. L. Ralston. "Fractures of the femur about femoral endoprostheses." J. of Trauma 14: 675-694, 1974.
- 134. Wilson, D., B. A. Masri and C. P. Duncan. "Periprosthetic fractures: an op erative algorithm." Orthopedics 24: 869-70., 2001.
- 135. Wong, P. and A. E. Gross. "The use of structural allografts for treating peri prosthetic fractures about the hip and knee." Orthop Clin North Am 30: 259-64., 1999.
- 136. Wu, C. C., M. K. Au, S. S. Wu and L. C. Lin. "Risk factors for postoperative femoral fracture in cementless hip arthroplasty." J of Formos Med. Assoc. 98: 190-194, 1999.
- Zenni, E. J., Jr., D. L. Pomeroy and R. J. Caudle. "Ogden plate and other fixations for fractures complicating femoral endoprostheses." Clin Orthop: 83-90, 1988.
- 138. Zlowodzki, M., S. Williamson, P. A. Cole, L. D. Zardiackas and P. J. Kregor. "Biomechanical evaluation of the less invasive stabilization system, angled blade plate, and retrograde intramedullary nail for the internal fixation of dis tal femur fractures." J Orthop Trauma 18: 494-502, 2004.

På grund av upphovsrättsliga skäl kan vissa ingående delarbeten ej publiceras här. För en fullständig lista av ingående delarbeten, se avhandlingens början.

Due to copyright law limitations, certain papers may not be published here. For a complete list of papers, see the beginning of the dissertation.





